# Steps to a Healthier US Workforce: Integrating Occupational Health and Safety and Worksite Health Promotion: State of the Science

Glorian Sorensen, PhD, MPH Elizabeth Barbeau, ScD, MPH Harvard School of Public Health Department of Society, Human Development and Health Dana-Farber Cancer Institute Center for Community-based Research

Commissioned paper for The National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health *Steps to a Healthier US Workforce* Symposium October 26-28, 2004, Washington, D.C.

# Acknowledgements

We greatly appreciate the dedication, persistence, and thoroughness of Christopher Speed, who made important contributions to this paper in the role of research assistant. We also thank Kerry Kokkinogenis for her work in production of the manuscript. We are indebted to the comments of reviewers on a draft of this manuscript, including Drs. Paul Landsbergis, Charles Levenstein, Margaret Quinn, and Gregory Wagner. Our thinking on this topic has been greatly informed by our collaborators, among them, Karen Emmons, Elizabeth Harden, Mary Kay Hunt, Anthony LaMontagne, Deborah McLellan, Anne Stoddard, Lorraine Wallace, and Richard Youngstrom, and by the worksites and unions collaborating on our research. We additionally appreciate the thoughtful comments of discussants of this paper at the NIOSH Symposium, including Drs. Joan Eakin, Laura Linnan, and James Merchant.

# Table of contents

Section	Page
Abstract	iv
A. Introduction	1
B. Rationale for integrating occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion	5
C. Occupational safety and health programs	10
D. Worksite health promotion programs	16
E. Integrated Occupational Safety and Health/Worksite Health Promotion	23
(OSH/WHP) Programs	
F. Worker health in a changing economy	29
G. Research agenda: Gaps in current literature and key issues to be addresssed in	33
future research	
G.1. Social epidemiological research	6
G.2. Methods development research	39
G.3. Assessing intervention efficacy	44
G.4. Assessing intervention effectiveness	48
G.5. Process evaluation	50
G.6. Dissemination and durability research	53
G.7. Barriers to research	57
H. Conclusions	58
I. Literature cited	62
J. Figures and tables	79

# Abstract

This paper presents the rationale and scientific evidence for coordinating and integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety as a means of enhancing the effectiveness of efforts to promote and protect worker health. Commissioned by NIOSH for its 2004 Steps to a Healthier US Workforce Symposium, this paper is intended to stimulate discussion and improve communication between the fields of worksite health promotion and occupational safety and health. We describe the parameters of each approach and suggest common goals and areas to increase coordination, with special attention to the implications of a rapidly changing labor market on future research priorities. We present recommendations for future research, barriers to be overcome to advance knowledge in this area, and suggestions for creating additional opportunities for scientists from a broad range of disciplines to engage in integrated occupational health and safety/worksite health promotion research aimed at improving worker health.

### **A. Introduction**

In this paper, we review the scientific evidence for coordinating and integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety as a means of enhancing the effectiveness of efforts to promote and protect worker health. The overall aim of this paper is to introduce the parameters for a research agenda aimed at improving worker health through such integrated and coordinated efforts.

Specifically, we summarize here the rationale for integrating occupational safety and health (OSH) and worksite health promotion (WHP). As a basis for considering integration of these fields, we briefly examine the types of research conducted to date examining the efficacy of occupational health and safety interventions and of worksite health promotion interventions, although we note that a full review of these literatures is beyond the scope of this paper. We review the emerging evidence on the efficacy of integrated interventions targeting occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion together. We hope that this paper might serve as a bridge to improve communication between the fields of worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety. With that in mind, we have sought to clarify the parameters of each approach and suggest common goals and areas to increase coordination. We use this review as the foundation for recommended research priorities and future directions.

As we described in an earlier paper,<sup>1</sup> the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) concluded in 1984 that simultaneously addressing worksite occupational safety and health and worksite health promotion would "make possible a 'synergism of prevention' to improve the health of workers through comprehensive risk reduction."<sup>2</sup> As illustrated in Figure 1, in this paper we define occupational safety and health and worksite health promotion as the content being addressed by intervention efforts potentially aimed across multiple levels of influence.<sup>3,4</sup> At the individual/interpersonal level, interventions aim to educate individual

workers and build social norms supportive of worker health, for example through educational classes or one-on-one training programs. Interventions at the environmental/organizational level of influence aim to modify the work environment or organization in support of worker health outcome. By the term "environmental/organizational," we mean to encompass both the work environment or organization, including for example work climate and organizational policies, and the physical environment, including for example the potential for exposures to dusts, fumes, vapors, noise, ambient temperature, and other potential hazards. Increasingly, interventions are coordinating efforts across the individual/interpersonal and environmental/organizational levels in recognition of the mutually reinforcing capabilities of comprehensive approaches to worker health, which we term here multi-level interventions.<sup>5, 6</sup>

### Figure 1 about here

Occupational safety and health (OSH) interventions are designed to minimize workers' exposures to job-related risks, including exposures to physical, biological, chemical, ergonomic and psychosocial hazards.<sup>7</sup> These interventions may include changes in the organization and environment, such as the use of product substitution, engineering controls, and job re-design, as well as through individual efforts, including use of personal protective equipment, generally seen as a supplemental measure. These interventions are predominantly within the domain of management decisions, rather than of individual worker actions,<sup>8,9</sup> and may also be the subject of joint decision-making by labor and management through collective bargaining or less formal means.

Individual health-related behaviors are the prime target of worksite health promotion (WHP), which aims to promote healthy behaviors such as not using tobacco, weight control, a

healthy diet, physical activity, seat belt use, influenza vaccinations, adherence to screening guidelines (e.g., mammography screening, blood pressure, cholesterol), substance abuse prevention, case management (e.g., diabetes), and sun exposure prevention, as key examples.<sup>10-12</sup> In a classic article, Walsh and her colleagues termed behavioral or personal exposures "life risks," to be differentiated from occupational exposures they termed "job risks."<sup>13</sup> Worksites provide an important setting for influencing life risks through educational efforts designed to reach large numbers of workers not accessible through other channels. Worksites offer the potential for support of long-term behavior changes, mobilization of peer support, use of environmental supports, and the possibility of offering comprehensive multi-level interventions repeatedly over time as a means of building and sustaining interest in behavior changes.<sup>9, 14-17</sup> In general, corporate interest in and support for worksite health promotion has been considerable.<sup>4, 18</sup>

Despite addressing differing subject matter and aims, occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion clearly share the common goal of promoting worker health, with complementary functions in protecting and enhancing the health of workers, and thereby provide an important opportunity for coordinated and integrated efforts.<sup>1, 5, 19, 20</sup> Coordination between occupational health and safety and health promotion in the workplace has not been the norm in the United States, however. The two fields approach their objectives with differing assumptions, set differing priorities, and utilize different methods. Understanding the distinct underpinnings of these two fields may shed light on historic and present-day tensions associated with the integration of occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion, and can set the stage for productive dialogue toward a shared goal of improving worker health.

Flourishing worksite health promotion efforts over the last two decades have often spawned concerns and suspicions within the field of occupational safety and health that

employers are shifting the burden for worker health away from management to individual workers.<sup>8, 13, 21-23</sup> This trend may reflect a shift in public health practice away from environmental/organizational determinants of disease to a focus on individual risk-taking behaviors, indicative of a broader political movement toward reducing corporate social and environmental responsibility.<sup>23</sup> In this vein, resources for workplace public health practice have been increasingly directed toward improving workers' personal health behaviors, such as smoking, diet, and exercise, while de-emphasizing traditional occupational health and safety issues such as physical exposures and stressful working conditions. Even within the field of occupational safety and health, behavior-based safety programs have become prominent, directing attention toward "accident-prone" workers rather than redesigning hazardous processes.<sup>23</sup> Thus, for example, while many unions and working people recognize that smoking is a health threat, they may be mistrustful of worksite health promotion programs that provide smoking cessation services but ignore workplace safety concerns. It is therefore not surprising that relationships between health promotion professionals and those in occupational health and safety may be strained, particularly in situations where there might be competition for scarce resources devoted to worker health.<sup>8, 13, 22, 24</sup> The result has all too often been a fragmented approach to worker health.<sup>16, 20</sup>

Despite these tensions, there have been increasing calls for a comprehensive approach to worker health, based on multidisciplinary, integrated methods aimed at creating healthpromoting workplaces.<sup>5, 9, 13, 15-17, 19, 20</sup> Integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety is a core principle of numerous international efforts and declarations in support of worker health.<sup>25-29</sup> Evidence is beginning to accumulate, documenting the potential benefits of interventions integrating efforts to reduce behavioral risks with OSH initiatives, particularly for worker health behaviors.<sup>5, 30-32</sup>

B. Rationale for integrating occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion Worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety provide two parallel pathways for promoting worker health within healthy workplaces. The argument we make in this paper is that these parallel efforts will be strengthened when they are coordinated and integrated, rather than separate and independent. We outline here four overarching reasons for integrating these two parallel approaches. These reasons provide a balance between the "business case" for integrated programs – focusing on potential cost savings and productivity gains for employers – with the "worker case" for integrated programs – focusing on clear benefits for workers as a result of a holistic approach to worker health. As we recognize the potential benefits, we are cognizant, too, that there are potential risks associated with integrated approaches. For workers, creating opportunities for management to gather personal information about health behaviors may present concerns that managers could misuse this information. For example, ill-intentioned managers could allow information about workers' health habits to unfairly influence decisions about raises and promotions, or as evidence to argue against work-relatedness of illnesses in workers' compensation disputes. It is essential, therefore, as we contemplate the integration of health promotion and health protection, that we recognize the vast potential value as well as the risks to be guarded against.

<u>1. Workers' risk of disease is increased by exposures to both occupational hazards and</u> <u>risk-related behaviors</u>. Occupational disease and injury continue to account for a considerable proportion of the burden of disease in the US. Current occupational health and safety surveillance data indicate that 6.1 million illnesses and injuries occurred in 1997 in private-sector employment settings; 6,238 workers died of occupational diseases in that same year. Between 1973 and 1997, the number of lost workdays attributable to occupational illnesses and injuries

rose from 1.9 million to 2.9 million per year.<sup>33</sup> Health behaviors also play a significant role in a range of health outcomes; for example, according to a recent assessment of contributors to overall mortality in the US, tobacco accounts for 18% of total mortality, and diet and physical activity, 17%.<sup>34</sup>

The effects of these life risks and job risks are not independent of one another.<sup>35</sup> Take, as an example, exposure to tobacco.<sup>5</sup> Some of the same toxic agents present in tobacco smoke are also hazards in the worksite (e.g., benzene), and thus, workers who smoke may be doubly exposed through their exposures on the job. In addition, tobacco smoke and toxic agents found in the worksite may interact synergistically, increasing the profound effect beyond the simple addition of the two exposures alone (e.g., asbestos). Workplace chemicals may also be transformed into more harmful agents by smoking. For example, the heat generated by burning tobacco may increase the toxicity of other chemicals inhaled as smoker inhales a cigarette. Similarly, tobacco use has been associated with another type of occupational risk, stressful work organization, such as low job control.<sup>36, 37</sup>

2. The workers at highest risk for exposure to hazardous working conditions are also those most likely to engage in risk-related health behaviors. Exposure to both job and life risks are concentrated among those employed in working class occupations, meaning those employed in blue-collar or service occupations as typically defined in US studies<sup>38, 39</sup> or in lower supervisory, technical, semi-routine or routine occupations, as defined by the United Kingdom's new National Statistics Socio-Economic Classification System (NS-SEC).<sup>40</sup> Workers in these occupations are more likely to be injured or become ill due to workplace hazards than are professional employees. For example, 1997 data indicate that truck drivers and laborers were the occupations with the most injuries and illnesses involving days away from work, followed by nursing aides and orderlies.<sup>33</sup> Life risks also are concentrated in working class occupations and workers with lower levels of education. The smoking prevalence among blue-collar workers (including craftspersons and kindred workers, operatives, transportation operatives, and laborers) is 37% for men and 33% for women,<sup>38</sup> compared to 23% for the population overall.<sup>41</sup> *National Health Interview Survey* data for 2000 indicates that smoking prevalence is highest for persons employed in working class jobs, with less education, and with low incomes, and that while there is no socioeconomic gradient in quit attempts, those with the most socioeconomic resources are most successful with quitting. Similarly, overweight status is inversely associated with education level<sup>42-45</sup> and occupation.<sup>42, 43</sup> According to the 2001 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, prevalence of obesity among adults ranges from 16% for person with greater than a college education to 23% for those with high school and 27% for those with less than high school.<sup>45</sup>

There is evidence as well that exposures to job hazards and health behaviors are correlated. For example, we found that blue-collar workers exposed to hazards on the job were more likely to smoke than their unexposed counterparts.<sup>46</sup> Similarly, increased exposure to hazards on the job has been linked by others with unhealthy dietary habits among blue-collar workers<sup>47, 48</sup> and with binge drinking.<sup>49</sup>

These dual exposures are associated with a range of short-term adverse outcomes. Walsh and her colleagues<sup>13</sup> surveyed workers and managers from a large manufacturing firm about their occupational risks and health behaviors. Workers with high levels of job risks and life risks missed an average of three additional absence days per year, and reported five times as much psychological distress, including depression, anxiety and sleep disturbances, as workers in the low-risk group. In addition, they reported more symptoms of physical pain, poorer general health, and lower job satisfaction than the sample overall.

3. Integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety may increase program participation and effectiveness for high-risk workers. Workers at highest risk for job exposures may be more likely to participate in integrated OSH/WHP than in worksite health promotion programs alone. There is evidence from the risk communication field that people place highest priority on those risks that are involuntary, outside personal control, undetectable, and that seem unfair,<sup>50-52</sup> features that often characterize occupational hazards. Accordingly, workers may perceive management actions to reduce workers' exposures to occupational hazards as of greater importance than personal health behavior changes, and may feel that the benefits of individual health behavior changes are insignificant in the face of exposures to workplace hazards.<sup>5</sup> Skepticism about management's commitment to improve worker health may reduce workers' interest in participating in health promotion programs at work.<sup>20, 53, 54</sup> Conversely, employer efforts to create a safe and healthy work environment may foster a climate of trust and thereby enhance workers' receptivity to messages from their employer regarding health behavior change. In a study of blue-collar workers, we found that workers who reported that their employers had made changes to reduce hazardous exposures on the job were significantly more likely to have participated in smoking cessation and nutrition programs than workers not reporting management changes.<sup>55</sup> Reduction of job risks may be required to gain credibility with this audience, and to increase its receptivity to health education messages about individual health behaviors.<sup>22, 31</sup>

In addition, programs integrating messages about job risks and risk-related behaviors may increase workers' motivations to make health-behavior changes. For example, one study found that blue-collar smokers exposed to chemical hazards on the job were more than three times more likely than those unexposed to be thinking of quitting smoking or taking action to quit.<sup>46</sup> Wellness programs that fail to address the hazards of work miss significant sources of health-related problems and costs, both to individual workers and employers. At the same time, occupational

health and safety programs that ignore life risks may be underestimating workers' understanding of the complexities of health and well-being.<sup>13</sup>

We describe findings of the efficacy of interventions integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety for high-risk workers in Section E.

4. Integrated occupational health and safety/worksite health promotion efforts additionally may benefit the broader work organization and environment. A growing literature demonstrates the benefits of worksite health promotion programs in terms of both direct costs (e.g., reduction in health care costs)<sup>56-58</sup> and indirect costs (e.g., reductions in costs resulting from lost production as a result of reductions in productivity or increases in work absence).<sup>57, 59-65</sup> In addition, research is also indicating the cost effectiveness of OSH interventions to prevent occupational diseases.<sup>66-69</sup> As an indicator of the mounting interest in this area of research, a recent supplement to the Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine<sup>‡</sup> devoted an entire issue to effects of disease on workplace productivity. Within this growing literature, comprehensive programs integrating employee wellness, disability management, employee assistance, and occupational medicine have been shown to result in long term savings in medical care utilization and expenditures<sup>56</sup> and reductions in sickness absence.<sup>30</sup> These findings are underscored by other papers prepared for this NIOSH Symposium.<sup>70, 71</sup> In addition, some experts have posited that the overall success of the organization is enhanced through coordination of rather than competition for resources.<sup>6, 9, 15, 27</sup> For example, the World Health Organization's Regional Guidelines for the Development of Healthy Workplaces defines a healthy workplace as one that aims to create a healthy and safe work environment, ensure that worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety are an integral part of management practices, foster work styles and lifestyles conducive to health, ensure total organizational participation, and extend the positive impacts to the surrounding community and environment.<sup>27</sup> This

document further underscores the benefits of such coordinated efforts, including their contributions to a positive and caring image for the company, improvements in staff morale, reduced turnover and absenteeism, and improved productivity.<sup>27</sup> It is imperative that future research document ways in which integrated OSH/WHP programs may further the mission of the organization through support for a healthy and productive workers within a healthy work organization.

### C. Occupational safety and health programs

Occupational safety and health (OSH) programs have traditionally been concerned with reducing hazardous exposures at work that can lead to work-related injury, illness and disability, and also may include emergency response programs.<sup>72</sup> The US Department of Health and Human Services has defined national health goals to be reached by the year 2010 in its *Healthy People 2010 Report*,<sup>10</sup> including several objectives related to OSH. Two broadly-stated goals are to reduce deaths from work-related injuries from 4.5 to 3.2 deaths per 100,000 workers aged 16 and older per year across all industries, and to reduce work-related injuries resulting in medical treatment, lost time from work, or restricted work activity 6.2 to 4.3 injuries per 100 full-time workers per year aged 16 and older. Additional OSH objectives relate to reducing injury and illness associated with overexertion or repetitive strain, deaths from pneumoconiosis, work-related homicides, elevated blood lead levels from work exposures, occupational skin diseases and disorders, work-related stress, occupational needle-stick injuries among health care workers, and work-related noise-induced hearing loss.<sup>10</sup>

<sup>‡</sup> Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, June 2004 46(6).

# Prevalence of occupational safety and health activities

To our knowledge, there have been no national surveys of employers to determine the prevalence of OSH initiatives, though measuring such initiatives may prove infeasible given the varied nature of hazards across industries, occupations, and worksites. Furthermore, unlike health promotion activities, which employers choose to offer on a voluntary basis, OSH activities may either be initiated because employers are required to do so to comply with specific Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) standards that apply to their industry (e.g. cotton dust standard), or because they choose to go beyond regulatory requirements to provide additional health and safety measures. Even attempts to determine the prevalence of health and safety practices based on OSHA compliance or violations would yield incomplete and inaccurate data, because worksites are not routinely inspected. In 1996, 1,200 OSHA inspectors were assigned protection of 105.8 million workers at 6.4 million workplaces.<sup>73</sup> One crude and incomplete estimate of the prevalence of OSH activity is the number of worksites that have achieved Voluntary Protection Program (VPP) status. This program provides regulatory relief for companies meeting OSH performance criteria.<sup>74</sup> In 2002, OSHA reported 864 VPP sites in the US,<sup>75</sup> a very small proportion of the total number of worksites in the US and a reflection only of the number of worksites that apply for and receive this status.

### Selected frameworks for occupational safety and health interventions

Occupational health and safety initiatives can take many different forms in different types of worksites, depending not only on the hazards present, but also on management practices. In unionized worksites, unions may also play a role in determining how hazards are addressed. Interventions to protect workers' health can operate at multiple levels of influence (individual, organizational, or both), as depicted in Figure 1. Many occupational health practitioners would argue for an approach that targets organizational-level change over individual worker behavior, following a well-recognized "hierarchy of controls" model. This model calls for adherence to a recommended sequence for control of hazards beginning with control as close to the source as possible.<sup>76</sup> The ideal choice is the substitution of safer substances for those that are hazardous, thereby removing the potential hazard. Engineering controls provide a second line of defense for the control of hazards, followed by administrative controls, such as job redesign or job rotation. Personal protective equipment used by workers is recommended only as a last line of defense when substitution or engineering controls are not possible. By itself, it is not an acceptable method of control because its effectiveness is highly variable and not reliable. In a manufacturing setting, for example, a hierarchy of controls model would call first for elimination of substitution of a chemical that gives off toxic fumes, followed by engineering efforts to provide ventilation to reduce workers' exposure to fumes, and then by administrative controls such as rotating workers on and off jobs that involve the chemical so as to reduce total exposure to any one worker, and finally by personal protective equipment such as respirators. Another example might be addressing medical errors in a health care setting by focusing at the organizational-level to assess whether the staffing plan is adequate to avoid excessive worker overload, rather than at the individual level to educate workers how to cope with stress and overwork.

Useful as it is, the model was not intended to address other important aspects of OSH, including the role of managers and workers in creating "programmatic" or "systematic" approaches to occupational safety and health. Such approaches are rapidly emerging internationally as the preeminent strategy for employers to reduce occupational illness and injury.<sup>77</sup> Several countries have developed OSH program regulations or guidelines,<sup>78</sup> including the US. OSHA has promoted a set of voluntary guidelines for OSH programs since 1989,<sup>79</sup> and

released a draft OSH program rule to the public in 1998.<sup>80, 81</sup> Despite the rising prominence of the OSH program approach as a strategy for reducing occupational illnesses and injuries, there are few peer-reviewed empirical research reports about OSH programs or methods for assessing them,<sup>77, 82, 83</sup> yet these programs provide a useful framework for discussing such initiatives. The four program elements defined by OSHA are: (1) management commitment to and employee *participation in OSH activities* (e.g., management sets health and safety goals for company on regular basis; company allocates money specifically for health and safety, managers directly accountable for health and safety in their areas; employees participate in health and safety committees; means available for employees to report health & safety hazards, problems, concerns); (2) workplace analysis (e.g., new processes, machinery, methods, materials reviewed for health and safety before being introduced in work environment; health and safety audits; investigations of injuries, property damage, near misses); (3) hazard prevention and control (e.g., specific time deadlines set for correction of identified hazards; follow-up inspections made to determine whether corrective action taken; engineering controls designed to eliminate or substitute hazards are considered before adopting personal protective equipment or administrative controls; and (4) education and training (e.g., health and safety training provided to all employees; additional training provided to employees that might encounter new hazards when changing jobs in company; training provided to contract or part-time employees).

The description of these two OSH intervention frameworks is presented here in the hope of providing a structure for readers outside the discipline of occupational safety and health, in order to provide a basis for conceptualizing OSH interventions beyond addressing a particular hazard.

# Intervention effectiveness research in occupational safety and health

Before reviewing intervention research in OSH, we describe the political and economic context in which such interventions are undertaken in the US, primarily intended for readers less familiar with the field. The patterns of worker morbidity and mortality flow directly from the choices of technology made by employers.<sup>84</sup> Employer choices, at least in the US, are structurally driven by market forces that aim to maximize profit and minimize costs, the latter of which can include the costs of materials, technology, and systems to protect workers' health.<sup>85</sup> Intense competition may force firms to cut the costs of production and increase productivity as much as possible, which in many cases, may pit resources for health and safety against corporate profits, and may additionally increase worker stress. These are structural factors that shape decisions made by employers, regardless of their individual dispositions toward the health of their workers. This phenomenon explains, in part, why businesses and worker organizations, such as labor unions, battle intensely with one another over regulatory standards proposed by the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA), in addition to their ideological clashes about the appropriate role of the state in governing private employers.<sup>84, 85</sup> This is to say that interventions to improve worker health and safety – whether undertaken voluntarily by employers or imposed upon them by regulatory standards – are situated in a political and economic context that must be considered when planning for interventions in worksites – be they OSH-specific or integrated OSH/WHP.

The aim of intervention effectiveness research in OSH is to evaluate the impact of interventions to prevent work-related injuries and illnesses. This type of research is relatively new to the OSH field compared to the worksite WHP field. The historical roots of occupational safety and health practice and research in the US can be found in factory inspections performed at the start of the twentieth century by politically and socially progressive occupational physicians such as Alice Hamilton, who called attention to lead dust and other hazards.<sup>86</sup> For the

next several decades, occupational health researchers engaged mainly in surveillance-oriented research, using epidemiologic and exposure assessment methods. This research attempted to determine associations between working conditions and worker illness and injury, which in turn provided a scientific basis for addressing hazardous exposures through regulation or other means, on the assumption that removing or reducing certain hazards would result in fewer injuries and illnesses. More recently, the field has begun to embrace research aimed at determining the efficacy and effectiveness of interventions to prevent or ameliorate hazards.<sup>87</sup>

The peer-reviewed literature contains only a limited number of intervention effectiveness studies conducted in the 1980s and early 1990s, which have been reviewed by others.<sup>88-94‡</sup> Most reviews to date have concluded that OSH intervention studies were more likely to focus on improving workers' knowledge and behavior of hazards than on engineering or administrative improvements in the work environment – priorities that are at odds with the hierarchy of controls model described above. Inherent in any such review is identification of methodologic limitations, which for some studies included small sample sizes of workers within a single worksite, quasiexperimental or non-experimental study designs, lack of a theoretical framework to guide intervention and evaluation, and outcome measures based solely on worker self-reports rather than additional and perhaps more objective outcomes, such as reductions in hazardous exposures. Similar such concerns have been raised in reviews of worksite health promotion intervention studies. (See Section D.) As is also the case in worksite health promotion research, most OSH studies have been conducted in large businesses. With a few exceptions, small businesses have been largely understudied,<sup>83,95</sup> despite their centrality in the US economy: 99% of employers employ less than 500 workers and approximately 50% of all workers.<sup>96</sup>

In 1996, the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health (NIOSH) and its partners announced the National Occupational Research Agenda (NORA), as a guide for OSH

research into the future, not only for NIOSH but for the entire occupational safety and health community.<sup>97, 98</sup> NIOSH sought the input of a approximately 500 organizations and individuals from the OSH community at large to develop the Agenda, which was the first such research guide in the field.<sup>99</sup> The NORA process resulted in identification of 21 research priorities, including intervention effectiveness research. The NORA intervention effectiveness website<sup>100</sup> lists some 40 current intramural and extramural projects designed to assess the effectiveness of a wide range of interventions, such as: a machine guarding intervention to reduce injuries in metal stamping and machine shops; ergonomic and work organizational interventions to reduce arm and hand pain, reduce lost time, and improve hand function in computer-based customer service work; crime prevention strategies to protect cab drivers; and training interventions targeting injuries occurring among small business workers.

### **D.** Worksite health promotion programs

Historically, worksite health promotion (WHP) has focused on promoting worker health through reduction of individual risk-related behaviors such as tobacco use, substance use, a sedentary lifestyle, poor nutrition, stressors and reactions to them, reproductive risks, and other preventable health behaviors.<sup>6, 101</sup> WHP may incorporate or be coordinated with employee assistance programs, clinical prevention services, disease management programs, and other health benefits.<sup>101</sup> Worksites may plan programs with worker input, and may set priorities based on their own assessment of needs, and/or emphasizing those behaviors associated with the largest decrements in mortality and morbidity, increases in disability, decreases in work productivity, or potential for cost savings relative to health impact.<sup>102-104</sup>

Healthy People 2010 defines two specific goals for worksite health promotion: to increase the proportion of worksites offering a comprehensive employee health promotion

program to their employees, targeting 75% participation by the year 2010; and to increase the proportion of employees who participate in employer-sponsored health promotion programs, again, targeting 75% participation rates by the year 2010.<sup>10</sup> These recommendations include five elements in defining a comprehensive worksite health promotion program: (1) health education, including a focus on skill development for health behavior change, and information dissemination and awareness building, preferably tailored to employees' interests and needs; (2) supportive social and physical environments, including implementation of policies that promote health and reduce risk of disease; (3) integration of the worksite program into the worksite's organizational structure; (4) linkage to related programs, such as employee assistance programs and programs to help employees balance work and family; and (5) worksite screening programs, ideally linked to medical care to ensure follow-up and appropriate treatment as necessary.<sup>105</sup>

## Prevalence of and participation in worksite health promotion programs

The 1999 National Worksite Health Promotion Survey found that a third (34%) of employers with 50 or more employees offered comprehensive health promotion programs that met Healthy People 2010 criteria, and that these programs were offered by half of the nation's largest employers (those with 750+ employees).<sup>10</sup> This survey also found that over 90% of surveyed worksites offered at least one health promotion activity, providing a solid foundation for future efforts.

As noted above, the Healthy People 2010 goals also aim to increase the proportion of workers participating in health promotion programs. According to the National Health Interview Survey, in 1994, 61% of U.S. employees aged 18 years and older in 1994 took part in employer sponsored health promotion activities, defined to include one or more elements of a comprehensive worksite health promotion program.<sup>106</sup>

Worksite health promotion programs are not equally available to all workers. Using results from the 1994 National Health Interview Survey, Grosch et al found that nonprofessionals, blacks, and individuals with lower education levels were less likely to work in worksites that offered some type of health promotion programming.<sup>107</sup> Even when programs are available, participation rates are not equivalent across workers. Participants are likely to be salaried, white-collar employees whose general health is better than average.<sup>108</sup> Blue-collar workers are less likely to participate in worksite health promotion programs than are white-collar workers.<sup>10, 54, 55, 109-112</sup> Low participation also is associated with lack of access to and extent of health insurance coverage.<sup>10, 113</sup> Low participation may be in part a consequence of ineffective "marketing" of programs to these workers,<sup>10, 113</sup> as well as structural barriers to participation. For example, supervisors often function as gatekeepers controlling worker access to worksite health promotion activities, and may be reluctant to allow workers to attend programs on work time in order to keep production lines moving, thus presenting the greatest barriers for those workers with the least amount of discretion over their time.<sup>54, 114</sup> Further barriers may include working over-time, shift work, having a second job, car-pooling to work, long distances between the plant and the employee's home, and responsibilities at home.<sup>115</sup>

# Frameworks for worksite health promotion interventions: Programs across multiple levels of influence

WHP programs are delivered at multiple levels of influence, as illustrated in Figure 1. At the individual and interpersonal levels of influence, worksite health promotion programs aim to help individual workers make health behavior changes. These interventions include intensive programs for high-risk individual workers, as well as worksite-wide programs designed to reach a breadth of the workforce. Intensive programs are likely to attract workers most interested in

health behavior change, and thus most motivated to change behavior. Worksite-wide programs instead generally aim to influence health behaviors among workers at varying stages of readiness for health behavior change. Not surprisingly, these two types of programs differ in their ability to change behaviors. For example, smoking cessation studies have found that more intensive programs, with multiple sessions and multiple components, yield higher quit rates than shorter term, less intensive interventions.<sup>18, 116, 117</sup> It is important to keep in mind, however, that because these programs are designed for highly motivated volunteers who are ready to commit to a behavior change program, they may miss important segments of the working population who are not interested in participating in intensive programs. From a public health perspective, the *"impact"* of an intervention is a product of both its *efficacy* in changing behavior and its *reach*, meaning the proportion of the population reached either through their direct participation, or indirectly through diffusion of intervention messages throughout the community, worksite or school.<sup>118, 119</sup>

One promising avenue for individually-focused interventions is the growing area of tailored interventions. Moving away from the one-size-fits-all approach to interventions, "tailoring" is one strategy for increasing the intensity of interventions delivered to at-risk populations. Tailored interventions typically use print communication<sup>120-122</sup> or telephone counseling<sup>123</sup> to enhance the relevance of interventions to the daily lives of the target population, thereby increasing the likelihood of achieving short-term or sustained intervention effects.<sup>118, 124</sup> Individually tailored interventions are typically algorithm-based and utilize expert systems or computer-based programs to match a large library of messages to individuals' varying information needs and levels of motivation to change, combining specific statements and graphics into personalized interventions for specific individuals.<sup>121, 123, 124</sup>

WHP programs also target the worksite environment, for example through tobacco control policies aimed both at protecting non-smokers from the hazardous effects of environmental tobacco smoke and promoting an environment supportive on non-smoking; by increasing the availability of healthy foods in worksite cafeterias; or by modifying the built environment to promote physical activity. For example, worksite policies on tobacco have been shown to decrease worker exposure to environmental tobacco smoke<sup>125-127</sup> and contribute to worker reductions in smoking, including quitting.<sup>116, 128-133</sup> Employer efforts to promote compliance with smoking policies can contribute to an overall climate supportive of nonsmoking.<sup>134</sup> Similarly, studies have examined the effects of cafeteria-based programs, for example through point-of-choice food labeling, as a location for media-based nutrition education, and through increasing the variety of foods and reducing prices; while these programs hold promise for changing food purchasing patterns at work, it is less clear whether changes extend to dietary patterns outside work.<sup>135, 136</sup>

Increasingly, WHP programs are focusing on multiple levels of influence, and growing attention is being placed on comprehensive programming, as illustrated in the Healthy People 2010 described above. The definition for "comprehensive" programs has not been consistent across reviews; for example, Pelletier defined comprehensive programs as "those programs that provide an ongoing, integrated program of health promotion and disease prevention that integrates the particular components (i.e., smoking cessation, stress management, lipid reduction, etc.) into a coherent, ongoing program that is consistent with corporate objectives and includes program evaluation."<sup>137</sup>

As noted in the previous section on OSH, laws and regulatory standards, such as those issued by federal or state OSHA agencies, can have an important impact on health and safety conditions at work. These are, by definition, policy interventions to protect workers' health and

that fall outside of the discretion of individual employers and worksites. Likewise, in the health promotion field, laws and regulations, such as the smoke-free worksites bills passed in several states, serve as environmental cues for workers to quit smoking as well as protect workers from exposure to second-hand smoke on the job.

## Efficacy of worksite health promotion interventions

WHP research has documented the efficacy of these programs across a wide array of outcomes, including changes in anthropometric measures, health behaviors, life satisfaction indicators, and measures of morbidity and mortality. In general, results from randomized studies of worksite health promotion have found modest yet promising effect sizes.<sup>4, 108, 138-140</sup> Figure 2 summarizes the results of meta-analyses of programs targeting physical activity, nutrition/cholesterol, smoking cessation and tobacco control policy, alcohol use, stress, and cancer risk factors, as well as multi-component programs. The studies included in these meta-analyses represent a range of study designs; although authors of these meta-analyses place the most weight on the results on randomized controlled studies, other study designs were included. Methodological limitations to the studies included in these meta-analyses are not dissimilar to those described in Section C for studies of OSH interventions, including inadequate sample sizes; the use of non-randomized designs; differential attrition across study groups; analysis at the individual level failing to take into account of group randomization; and the use of inadequate measures, including sole reliance on worker self-reports rather than additional objective measures, such as biochemical assessments.

One concern sometimes raised in the interpretation of the results of these studies has been the magnitude of effect sizes, even when statistically significant changes in behavior are found. Some observers continue to apply the standard of clinical significance in assessing the value of the magnitude of the results of these trials. Yet as Rose noted,<sup>141, 142</sup> small changes in behavior observed across entire populations are likely to have large effects on disease risk. For example, Tosteson and colleagues<sup>143</sup> estimated the cost-effectiveness of population-wide strategies to reduce serum cholesterol, and found that community-based interventions to reduce serum cholesterol are cost-effective if serum cholesterol is reduced by only two percent or more.<sup>143</sup> It is important that the standards used for interpretation of the results of worksite intervention studies be based on the public health significance of the effects.

*A key challenge: Identifying interventions to reduce class-based disparities in health behaviors* This research provides an important foundation for future worksite health promotion endeavors. A key priority for future research in this arena is attending to the persistent, and in some cases growing class-based disparities in health behaviors. These disparities point to an important gap in current worksite health promotion efforts and suggest a critical need for new approaches to behavioral interventions for working class populations. These disparities may be due, in part, to less access to worksite health promotion programs for blue-collar and service workers,<sup>107, 144</sup> less participation by these workers in programs when they are available,<sup>108</sup> lower efficacy of interventions among blue-collar and service workers.<sup>145</sup> Integrated OSH/WHP approaches, as we describe in the following section, are designed to attend to workers' dual concerns about life risks and job risks. Promising results suggest that in comparison with tradition worksite health promotion approaches, these interventions can lead to greater worker participation and improved health outcomes than among blue-collar manufacturing workers.

### E. Integrated Occupational Safety and Health/Worksite Health Promotion (OSH/WHP)

### Programs

Despite a clear rationale for integrating and coordinating worksite occupational health and safety and worksite health promotion and increasing discussions of the benefits of integrated OSH/WHP interventions,<sup>6, 9, 15-17, 146-150</sup> as described in Section B, empirical evidence supporting the promise of this approach is only beginning to emerge. Early research in this area focused on worker surveys simultaneously assessing job risks and life risks,<sup>151, 152</sup> and small scale studies<sup>153-</sup>

There are a growing number of reports of best practice within single worksites. For example, Johnson and Johnson "Live for Life" program encompasses health promotion, occupational health and safety, employee assistance, disability management and other benefits.<sup>157</sup> Administrative systems were established to promote cross-utilization of resources rather than "silos of service." A financial impact study found that this effort resulted in a cost savings on employee health care and administrative costs of about \$8.6 million per year. Other companies have similarly reported the benefits of worker health programs that integrated health promotion, occupational health and safety and other benefits supporting worker health, among them UAW-GM,<sup>158</sup> Chevron,<sup>159</sup> 3M,<sup>160</sup> Glaxo Wellcome,<sup>161</sup> and Citibank.<sup>162, 163</sup> These initiatives by vanguard companies have begun to change the dialogue about approaches to employee health, increasing to focus on integration within companies.

In addition, there is a growing literature reporting results of studies that have systematically assessed the efficacy and effectiveness of integrated OSH/WHP interventions. The strongest evidence available, summarized below, supports the efficacy of this intervention model in promoting smoking cessation, particularly among blue-collar workers; some evidence additionally indicates significant effects for other health behaviors. Little evidence is available to date documenting the impact of these programs on occupational health and safety outcomes.

## Defining integrated OSH/WHP programs

As illustrated in Figure 1, integrated OSH/WHP studies may be conducted across multiple levels of influence – targeting individual workers, the worksite organization and environment, or across multiple levels. Because reductions in job risks rest heavily on employers while individual workers must be included in any efforts to reduce life risks, integrated interventions are most likely to be aimed at multiple levels of influence. There are circumstances, nonetheless, where interventions may separately target individual or organizational/ environmental levels of influence, as we illustrate below.

Ideally, integration of OSH and WHP requires a change from the traditional organizational structure, in which OSH and WHP are situated in different locations within the organization, with little communication between these functions. In some cases, it may be possible for worksites to unify these functions within the organization, with a single budget and reporting structure, thereby integrating roles and responsibilities related to worker health. In other cases, it may be more likely for worksites to increase coordination across these functions, allowing for joint decisions about such key issues as priority-setting and resource allocation. This coordination across previously-disconnected functions provides a foundation for bringing various groups together within the organization, including those representing benefits/employee relations, employee assistance, health promotion, medical services, and occupational safety and health.<sup>9</sup>

Following standards for rigorous testing interventions, optimal assessment of the efficacy of integrated OSH/WHP programs generally relies on random assignment of worksites to the intervention, in order to control for secular trends in worksite initiatives and in worker health behaviors. Yet there are some research questions that cannot be effectively addressed in randomized trials, such as the impact of interventions that change the structure of OSH and WHP within the worksite organization, given the need for management initiative and commitment to such structure changes. Research to date has tested the efficacy of integrated OSH/WHP programs delivered by researchers; there remains a significant need for observational research to estimate the effects of structural changes in the operations and functioning of OSH and WHP.

# Research assessing integrated OSH/WHP programs

Table 1 summarizes key studies assessing the effectiveness of integrated OSH/WHP interventions. Included in this table are summaries of a series of studies we have conducted to examine the efficacy of interventions integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety across multiple levels of influence. The first of these studies, WellWorks-1, was conducted as part of the Working Well Trial, in which four research intervention sites tested the effects of a comprehensive worksite cancer prevention model aimed at nutrition and smoking; this study found statistically significant effects for smoking cessation and smoking cessation.<sup>164</sup>

### Insert Table 1 about here.

Our second study, WellWorks-2, asked the question: Does the addition of worksite occupational health and safety increase the effectiveness of worksite health promotion only?<sup>164</sup>

Using a randomized, controlled design, 15 mid- to large-size manufacturing worksites were randomly assigned to receive either worksite health promotion only (WHP Group, eight worksites); or worksite health promotion plus occupational safety and health (WHP/OSH Group, seven worksites). The intervention components are summarized in Table 2. This comparison tested the integrated intervention, which aimed to reduce occupational hazards.

### Insert Table 2 about here

We hypothesized *a priori* that the integrated OSH/WHP intervention would have the most relevance to workers in hourly positions where exposures to hazards on the job were more common than among salaried jobs. Results of this study for tobacco use cessation for blue-collar (hourly) and white-collar (salaried) workers are presented in Figure 3. Smoking quit rates among hourly workers in the OSH/WHP condition more than doubled relative to those in the WHP condition (11.8% vs 5.9%; p=0.04), and were comparable to quit rates of salaried workers. We found no differences in quit rates between groups for salaried workers. We found no significant changes changes in fruit and vegetable consumption, either in the sample overall or by job type. These findings nonetheless indicate the potential significant contribution of an integrated OSH/WHP intervention in promoting smoking cessation among blue-collar workers.

# Insert Figure 3 about here

Turning to OSH results, we found (1) worksites in the HP/OSH condition made statistically significant improvements in their health and safety programs compared to HP only sites,<sup>82</sup> and (2) significant improvements in an exposure prevention summary rating (developed as part of this study)<sup>165</sup> in the intervention worksites, which was offset by a smaller and nonsignificant improvement in the control worksites, rendering the pattern of results promising but not statistically significiant.<sup>166</sup> We also found that worker participation in intervention programs was significantly higher in the OSH/WHP condition than in the WHP condition,<sup>167</sup> as measured by process tracking of the intervention "dose" delivered in intervention sites. According to estimates by Colditz, if this intervention was disseminated to the population of blue-collar smokers in Massachusetts, an estimated 2,880 cases of lung cancer could be avoided, with additional benefits expected to accrue in other tobacco-related diseases.<sup>168</sup>

We have additionally recently completed a study testing the efficacy of an integrated OSH/WHP intervention in small manufacturing businesses employing working class, multiethnic workers.<sup>32</sup> This study provides evidence of the efficacy of integrated interventions in improving physical activity and diet among working class, ethnically diverse workers employed in small manufacturing businesses. Two additional studies still underway are testing the efficacy of integrated OSH/WHP interventions delivered at the individual/interpersonal level of influence. In one study, designed to promote tobacco use cessation and increased consumption of fruits and vegetables among construction laborers, a one-on-one telephone counseling intervention was based on motivational interviewing and a set of written materials designed specifically for this audience, and messages around occupational hazards and fitness for work were incorporated into the intervention.<sup>169</sup> In a second study, we are promoting tobacco use cessation among building trade apprentices during on-site training programs; again, messages about occupational health and safety are incorporated into the intervention. These interventions were designed to target the individual/interpersonal level of influence because the intervention is not delivered at a specific worksite setting, as is appropriate for construction workers who often move from job to job. Nonetheless, messages about job risks are clearly incorporated into

intervention messages. Preliminary results of these studies suggest promising intervention findings.

A final study included in Table 1 provides important evidence on the promise of integrated interventions targeting work organization factors as part of the OSH focus.<sup>30</sup> This study found that manufacturing employees in the intervention condition made significantly greater changes than those in a non-intervention control groups on key outcomes, including reduction in ergonomic risks, cardiovascular health risk, and job stressors such as psychological job demands and low job control. Overall, sickness absence in the intervention dropped (15.5% to 7.7%) versus control (14.3% to 9.5%) groups, which yielded a positive financial return on its investment in the project.

To summarize, although research testing the efficacy of OSH/WHP interventions is only in its infancy, emerging evidence to date suggests that these interventions hold significant promise for improving worker health behaviors, especially among working class populations, and have the potential to contribute to OSH programs and outcomes. This research provides a useful foundation for future research in this area.

## F. Worker health in a changing economy

As we begin to define a research agenda to explore the integration of WHP and OSH, it is important to consider several key changes that have influenced the nature of work in the U.S. over the last few decades. These labor market trends have important implications for future research aimed at interventions integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety, recognizing that "one size doesn't fit all." Interventions may need adaptation and retooling to fit specific worksite settings as well as changes in the overall labor force. First, there are important shifts in the proportions of workers employed across sectors of the labor market. Importantly, the proportion of workers in manufacturing jobs has decreased from 26.1 % in 1960 to 12.3% in 2003, and over the same period, the proportion in agricultural jobs has decreased from 8.4% to 1.7%. Meanwhile, employment has shifted to the service sector; the proportion of employment in the service sector in 2003 was 78.3%, up from 58.1 % in 1960.<sup>170</sup> The integrated WHP-OSH studies presented above were conducted mainly in manufacturing settings; additional studies testing the integrated model are needed to assess its effectiveness in service sector jobs.

Second, a growing number of workers are affected by corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, and downsizing.<sup>171</sup> For example, Fortune 500 companies alone reduced their total workforce from 14.1 million employees to 11.6 million between 1983 and 1993. With approximately 500,000 U.S. employees facing job loss each year as a result of these transitions, job security in this population as well others around them is affected.<sup>172</sup> Job insecurity may result in job dissatisfaction,<sup>173, 174</sup> increasing work withdrawal behaviors,<sup>175</sup> an increase in negative physical health outcomes,<sup>176-178</sup> and higher reports of psychological distress,<sup>175, 179</sup> and risk of heart disease.<sup>180, 181</sup> In addition, workers with perceptions of low job security commonly report lower organizational commitment, leading to greater employee turnover.<sup>173, 174</sup> Another trend is towards the implementation of new systems of work organization, such as lean production,<sup>182</sup> which can increase employee stress and health risks. Finally, national surveys in the US, Europe and Japan over the past 20 years have shown large increases in job demands and "time constraints."<sup>145</sup> These trends point to the importance of understanding the influence of job insecurity and work organization on health behaviors, and of addressing related stressors within integrated OSH/WHP interventions.

Third, employers have increased their reliance on contingent labor, in order to reduce costs through short-term hiring of employees, to provide employers greater flexibility to adjust to downturns in the business cycle, and to provide employers with a means of assessing new employees prior to making a full commitment to hiring them on a permanent basis.<sup>183, 184</sup> Many companies are hiring contract managers to meet their rapidly changing needs for new and unique managerial perspectives and talent.<sup>185</sup> The 1995 Bureau of Labor Statistics Report (BLS) revealed that the number of workers in contingent jobs ranged from 2.7 to 6.0 million employees, representing between 2.2% and 4.9% of the total U.S. Labor Force.<sup>186</sup> While some have noted these trends as a means of increasing the flexibility of the workplace,<sup>184</sup> others have expressed concerns with consequent reductions in employee rights<sup>187, 188</sup> or increased illness risks among temporary employees.<sup>189</sup> These trends have important implications for research on integrated OSH/WHP interventions. With short job tenures, workers may have less exposure to interventions and measurement of behavioral changes associated with interventions is likely to be difficult. In addition, managers may be less committed to contingent workers, as evidenced by the lower level of benefits these workers are often given. In designing integrated OSH/WHP interventions, it is important that contingent workers have the same access to programs and meet the same OSH training requirements as regular workers, in order to promote and sustain worksite health promotion and health protection across all workers in a setting.

Fourth, employer coverage of health care benefits for employees has declined, and payment has shifted significantly from employers to employees.<sup>190, 191</sup> From 1979 to 1998, the percentage of private sector workers receiving coverage from their employers declined sharply across almost all industries and occupations, with the largest declines among low-income workers, blue-collar and service workers and for workers employed in large firms. In 1983, 45.5 percent of private-sector employees had coverage paid in full by their employer, compared to

26.6% in 1998.<sup>190, 191</sup> Benefits coverage has particular implications for health promotion interventions; limited financial coverage of services supporting health behavior changes, such as for nicotine replacement therapy or gym memberships, may reduce workers' success with health behavior change.

Fifth, income inequality is increasing and wages are falling for many workers.<sup>192, 193</sup> Between 1979 and 2000, the real income of households in the lowest fifth grew 6.4%, while that of households in the top fifth grew 70%, with the top 1% increasing 184%. Over three-fourths of those who started out in the low end of the income scale in the late 1980's remained at the low end of the income scale ten years later. Since 2000, unemployment has been high, with slow recovery in the jobs lost in the recent economic downturn. The average hourly wage of bluecollar workers in 2001 was \$13.73 per hour (equivalent to \$28,558 per year),<sup>194</sup> placing them at only 1.6 times (i.e., 100-199% of) the 2001 poverty line of \$17,960 for a family of two adults and two children.<sup>195</sup> Unemployment disproportionately affects minority workers and those with lower levels of education.<sup>193</sup> The fact that many workers are at the low end of the pay scale is of importance given the long-standing recognition of the relationship between social class and health outcomes.<sup>196-198</sup> As we describe in Section B, point 2, integrated OSH/WHP programs may be particularly salient in addressing the concerns of workers at highest risk due to their dual exposures to job risk and life risks.

Sixth, rates of unionization are declining. In 2002, 13.2% of all workers in the US belonged to a labor union, down from 20.1% in 1983, the first year for which comparable data are available.<sup>199</sup> Labor unions have played a significant role in advocating for the health of workers. The private health care system in the US was developed largely as a result of collective bargaining.<sup>200</sup> Unions have been strong allies in efforts to promote healthy and safe working conditions.<sup>84</sup> More recently, several unions have become active on worksite health promotion

issues such as smoking cessation.<sup>83</sup> Despite their falling membership, unions can be powerful allies for interventions to protect and promote workers' health, particularly among blue-collar and service workers, who are more likely than white-collar workers to belong to a union. The declining union membership additionally underscores the ongoing need for representation of and responsiveness to workers' concerns in the design of broad-based initiatives to protect their health.

Additional changes are on the horizon. The proportion of workers who are immigrants is likely to increase in the coming decades, as has already been observed. Immigration is expected to continue to account for a sizable part of population growth and will further diversify the labor force. Projections suggest that the Hispanic and Asian population will rise from 14% in 1995 to 19% in 2020. Women's projected share in the workforce is expected to increase slightly (46% to 48% between 1998 and 2008). The racial/ethnic mix is also expected to change across this timeframe, with decreases in the percentage of whites, little or no change for blacks, and increases for Hispanics (of any race), Asians and other races.<sup>33</sup> Thus, it is important that integrated OSH/WHP interventions attend not only to working class populations, but also be designed in recognition of the increasing racial/ethnic diversity in workforce, and with attention to cultural differences, the implications of acculturation, the potential for discrimination, and related social contextual issues. Of course, race and class are inextricably linked in the US; in many cases, interventions designed for working class populations are likely also to reach racial/ethnic minority groups, who are over-represented among working class groups. Notwithstanding, it is essential to examine efficacy of OSH and WHP interventions among racial-ethnic subgroups.

In addition, it is expected that the proportion of older workers in the labor force will increase. In contrast to prior decades, in which most of the growth in the labor force was
accounted for by workers between 25 and 54 years of age, over the next decade fewer than one in three (31%) of the added workers will be in this category. Instead, nearly half of the additional workers will come from the 55-and-older category, while about one in five will come from the youth labor force.<sup>201</sup> By 2008, the percentage of workers aged 45 and older is expected to increase from 33% to 40% of the workforce, and those aged 25 to 44 to decrease from 51% to 44%<sup>33</sup> It is important that the design of future integrated OSH/WHP interventions take into account the specific needs of older workers.<sup>202, 203</sup>

## G. Research agenda: Gaps in current literature and key issues to be addresssed in future research

This review provides promising evidence about the potential importance of integrating and coordinating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety as a means of enhancing worker health. This research, however, is in its infancy, and there remains a broad range of research questions needing to be addressed in order to maximize the potential impact of these interventions. Figure 4 presents an organizing framework for our discussion of five overarching research directions, and specific recommendations are summarized in Table 3. This outline follows research frameworks describing the appropriate sequencing of research within cancer prevention and control<sup>204</sup> and cardiovascular disease prevention.<sup>205</sup> Such research does not always proceed in a linear fashion, but may require circling back to "earlier" steps in the process to address newly-defined research questions.<sup>204, 206</sup> We begin with two key foundations for intervention research. First, social epidemiological research is needed to identify key work-related factors associated with hazardous occupational exposures and risk-related behaviors, and to identify the underlying causes of social disparities in worker health. Second, there is a need for methods development research aimed at developing both appropriate measurement tools and new

intervention approaches to integrating worksite health promotion and OSH. We describe key directions for testing integrated OSH/WHP interventions, focusing, third, on efficacy studies examining the effects of integrated interventions on both occupational health and safety outcomes as well as health behavior changes, and fourth, on effectiveness studies aimed at evaluating the generalizability of tested interventions to new settings or with new populations. Fifth, we describe research to address the need for assessing the process of intervention implementation, including intervention implementation evaluation, cost assessments, and process-to-outcome assessments. Finally, we look at ways to assess the long-term applicability of these intervention approaches through dissemination and durability research, that is, testing methods to promote the sustainability and dissemination of programs where sufficient evidence is available to indicate that an integrated intervention is efficacious, and to promote maintenance of changes in health behaviors and the work environment resulting from interventions.

This sequence of research phases will necessarily be conducted in a political, economic, and social context that surrounds worksite-based research.<sup>84, 207</sup> Researchers from the WHP and OSH fields are certainly aware of the challenges of this terrain, replete with power differences between managers and workers; management's interest in controlling costs and increasing productivity, and how these factors play into their support or lack thereof for OSH and WHP; and workers' concerns about maintaining privacy and other essential rights, and their resistance to management-initiated efforts to 'correct' workers' 'poor' health behaviors.<sup>108, 208</sup> Acknowledgement and articulation of these realities is not only critical to conducting sound research in the workplace, but also helps to clarify the very questions we pose and the assumptions underlying them. By questioning these basic assumptions – the "taken-for-granted 'truths,'" to use Eakin's phrase, we are able to shed light on ideologies underlying our research questions.<sup>207</sup> For example, we recognize that for employers, it is critical to have information

about the economic implications of integrated approaches for the 'bottom line,' and several WHP and OSH studies have calculated outcomes such as cost-effectiveness and return-oninvestment.<sup>66, 70, 71</sup> Equipped with this information, employers can determine whether and how to pay for WHP or OSH interventions in the overall economic context of their businesses. By addressing these questions through our research, however, it is essential to acknowledge the limited scope of these research questions from a public health perspective. In addition, costbased research could be characterized by workers and their advocates as a callous calculation of what workers' health is *worth* to the business. Being clear on our questions, assumptions, and methods is particularly critical for scientists attempting to work across disciplines. Within our own disciplines, we often take for granted many shared assumptions and fail to challenge one another. There is, thus, an inherent set of challenges in inter-disciplinary collaboration, as well as an enormous opportunity to pause, question, and reflect on comfortable assumptions held by individual disciplines.<sup>209</sup>

In this section, following the framework in Figure 1, we describe key directions for future research aimed at integrating OSH and worksite health promotion, with the hope that this framework and discussion will provide a structure for delineating additional research priorities. We additionally examine barriers to accomplishing this research agenda.

Insert Figure 4 here

Insert Table 3 here

## G.1. Social epidemiological research

Other research frameworks have noted that a first phase of research progresses from hypotheses development aimed at understanding the basic etiology of the health issue of concern.<sup>204-206</sup>

Interventions to improve worker health must be solidly based on an understanding of the patterns and distributions of worker illnesses and injuries in the population, including attention to differences in hazardous exposures and health outcomes by race/ethnicity, gender, and occupational class.<sup>210-212</sup> and of the broader social, cultural, economic and political processes underlying these disparities.<sup>213</sup> Setting priorities for integrated approaches requires a thorough understanding of the populations that are at greatest risk for adverse health events.

As we examine underlying work conditions influencing worker health, it is important to consider the role of a range of social toxicities in the workplace – including, for examples, workplace-based discrimination and harassment, organizational factors like hierarchical and authoritarian authority structures, and systemic disrespect.<sup>208</sup> Ascribing worker health risks to either the field of WHP (smoking, diet exercise) or OSH (dust, safety hazards, job strain) poses the risk of keeping these other threats to worker health off the radar screen of our research endeavors. Social epidemiological inquiry is needed that broadly examines a range of influences on worker health, and that additionally explores how 'traditional' OSH and WHP health risks intersect with these types of social hazards at work.

## Lack of OSH data by race/ethnicity and gender

In the WHP field, there is a deep literature on the distribution of risk-related health behaviors by race/ethnicity, gender, and various dimensions of social class. By contrast, there is a dearth of data on the distribution of occupational hazardous exposures, illnesses, and injuries by race/ethnicity or gender. What literature does exist, however, indicates that workers of color and low-paid workers, both men and women, suffer disproportionate exposures to workplace hazards. For example, in a review of the literature on workers of color, Frumkin et al<sup>212</sup> assembled data from the mid-1990s confirming the persistence of historical trends in

racial/ethnic disparities in occupational exposures, with occupations employing the most black and most Hispanic workers being more hazardous and having higher rates of job-related injuries and illnesses than occupations employing mostly white workers. Work-related illness and injury rates, in cases per 100 full-time workers per year, are 4.34 and 2.16 in occupations with the most black and Hispanic workers, respectively, compared to 0.85 for occupations with the most white workers.<sup>212</sup> Little data are available to describe the distribution of exposure to job-related hazards among working women, or comparisons of their exposures to those among men.<sup>33, 212</sup> Additional research is needed to document the distribution of OSH hazards by socio-demographic characteristics in order to determine priorities for integrated interventions.

# Need for expanding our understanding of social contextual determinants of worker health outcomes

In addition to examining the nature of workers' exposures to occupational hazards, understanding the nature and extent of social conditions at work and the ways in which these exposures influence health behaviors and other worker health outcomes is critical to efforts to improve worker health. In addition, it is important to improve our understanding of the ways in which these factors vary across important worker socio-demographic characteristics, as a basis for addressing disparities in worker health outcomes. To guide research on the social determinants of worker health outcomes, we have suggested a social contextual conceptual framework aimed at illuminating the "black box" through which population characteristics influence worker health, focusing initially on health behaviors while also considering the role of occupational exposures within this framework.<sup>5, 214</sup> This framework examines the influence of workers' socio-demographic characteristics and socioeconomic position on health behavior outcomes through social contextual factors considered across multiple levels of influence. For example, at the individual level, following the work of Graham,<sup>215-217</sup> we might hypothesize that tobacco use prevalence will be highest among workers with the most numerous and complex role responsibilities; responsibilities at home may have important intersections with workload or job strain (i.e., high demand-low control work) in influencing behavioral outcomes. At the organizational level, it is important to understand the complex interplay between workers' potential occupational exposures and other characteristics of their work (e.g., shift work),job setting (e.g., industry or size of worksite),<sup>146</sup> and the social environment of the work setting.<sup>144</sup> Likewise, Devine, et al, found that food choice strategies in low- and moderate-income urban households were differentiated by experiences of work. Individuals who felt their work was demanding but manageable viewed food choices for themselves and family members as a source of pride and satisfaction (positive spillover of work to home), whereas those who felt their work was demanding and limiting characterized food choices as a source of guilt and dissatisfaction (negative spillover).<sup>218</sup> Such information can guide intervention development by identifying modifiable elements of the social context that may be addressed through interventions, and can enhance the relevance of intervention messages by incorporating an understanding of the day-today realities of workers experiences.

#### Need for understanding the dual impact of job and life risk exposures over the life course

There have been increased calls for epidemiologic research that addresses health risks accumulated across the life-course, from infancy to old age.<sup>219, 220</sup> Within WHP and OSH, as in other public health scientific fields, most studies capture workers' health burden at a given point in time through cross-sectional surveys, or at best over a series of cross-sectional surveys that spans the life of a typical three- to five-year grant period. Attempts to capture life-course experiences through survey questions that ask respondents to recall events from childhood can be

fraught with threats to validity. There is a need for long-term cohort studies focused on workers' health that can measure and disentangle the complex web of risks encountered over the lifecourse and their resulting health impacts. Prospective studies would be able uncover the joint roles of work exposures and health behaviors in early life on later health outcomes, and the intersections of these exposures with a range of job experiences.

#### G.2. Methods development research

A second phase of research is aimed at methods development, including the development of intervention tools and research methods.<sup>204-206</sup> Before large scale, randomized controlled trials can be appropriately launched, important challenges must be addressed, such as identification of the overall risks and risk perceptions of this population; assessment of the feasibility and acceptability of the intervention in a specific population; assessment of potential participation in an intervention study; development and testing of reliable, valid measures for assessing outcomes within the defined setting; and preliminary small-scale tests of planned interventions.<sup>204</sup> We have identified two broad categories of methods development research that are likely to facilitate integrated OSH/WHP interventions: intervention development and measures development.

#### Need for further specification of integrated interventions

There is a need for further development and articulation of intervention methodologies that effectively integrate WHP and OSH. Critical issues include: (1) development of interventions for various occupational contexts and groups of workers within those contexts, (2) development of interventions for a broad cadre of occupational exposures and health behaviors, and (3) further specification and operationalization of "integrated interventions." Beginning with the first issue, we note that interventions conducted for a specific worksite context and audience of workers – such as blue-collar workers in manufacturing settings (where much of the research to date has been conducted) – cannot be directly applied to other contexts and/or types of workers. For example, interventions in manufacturing worksites would need to be adapted and tested in service sector settings, such as restaurants or retail stores. Likewise, one cannot assume that within a particular worksite context all workers will benefit equally from the intervention, as was shown in the Wellworks-2 study, in which the integrated intervention made a difference in increasing smoking cessation among blue-collar but not white-collar workers. Looking ahead, research findings on the social contextual determinants of worker health provide an important foundation for the development and refinement of integrated interventions designed in response to the work experiences and broader life experiences of diverse settings and groups of workers in those settings.

Second, integrated intervention studies need to investigate additional behavioral and OSH outcomes. Most such studies to date have focused on manufacturing-related job hazards and select health behaviors (e.g., tobacco, physical activity, and diet). Additional studies are needed to examine a broader range of health behaviors and occupational exposures, such as the development and preliminary testing of intervention methods to reduce job strain and identify methods for integrating such interventions with health behavior interventions. In methods development studies, it is critical to pre-test and refine intervention protocols, including process measures to assess implementation (see G.5), because subsequent efficacy and effectiveness studies will rely on careful articulation and implementation of these of standardized intervention protocols in order to assess changes associated with the intervention. Pre-testing intervention protocols allows for assessing management's and workers' receptivity to the interventions; for

example, workers may provide feedback regarding the extent to which the materials are usable, understandable, relevant, attention-getting and memorable, and credible.

And third, it is essential that in conducting these types of studies that researchers be explicit in their definition and operationalization of "integrated interventions." According to Figure 1, integrated interventions, by definition, address both life and job risks. Important to note, however, is that the unit of intervention can either be at the individual or organizational level, or both. For example, the Wellworks-2 intervention described above targeted both the individual worker and at the organizational level for managers. At the individual level, we provided educational messages to workers about the importance of smoking cessation in the context of hazardous job exposures, which together could increase risk for adverse health events, for example. At the managerial level, we attempted to change management behaviors, focusing on developing systematic approaches to reducing job hazards, as well as policies that would promote healthy behaviors (e.g., providing healthful food options in the cafeteria). In a more recent pair of studies currently underway (see Section E) with unionized building trades workers and apprentices, we are intervening only at the individual level with workers, but integrating messages about how OSH conditions can increase health risks associated with smoking and poor diet. Researchers need to consider and define the unit of intervention for integrated messages.

In addition to defining the level of intervention, it is likewise critical to determine what is actually meant by "integration." As noted in Section E, a worksite may make organizational changes to fuse OSH and WHP within a single box on an organizational chart, assigning responsibility for worker health to a single department or other organizational unit. In other instances, worksites may make organizational changes to structure improved collaboration and communication among those responsible for OSH and WHP. For researchers implementing an integrated OSH/WHP intervention from outside the work organization, it may be necessary to

grapple with such questions as: if OSH and WHP initiatives are being undertaken in a worksite – in parallel – should that be considered an "integrated approach" to worker health? Or is some deeper level of intersection required, such as *embedding* smoking cessation messages and programs in the context of efforts to reduce exposure to toxic fumes, for example? And what would "embedding" actually look like within a given setting? Implied in such a question is whether the 'whole' of an integrated approach is greater than or equal to the sum of its WHP and OSH parts. Can we, in fact, achieve a 'synergism of prevention' with integrated approaches – a notion proposed by NIOSH twenty years ago and endorsed in a recent speech by current NIOSH director, John Howard.<sup>2, 221</sup>

## Need for further development of measurement tools

There is a crucial need for development of valid measures that permit testing of the efficacy of interventions. Of highest priority is the need for measures of change in occupational health and safety outcomes that can be used across types of settings/exposures. In designing integrated OSH/WHP interventions, it is critical to set priorities for OSH intervention targets and to select appropriate outcomes that can be reliably and accurately measured. In OSH research, quantitative exposure assessment, using such measures as air sampling techniques, is the gold standard for assessing intervention effectiveness; in integrated interventions, however, this type of assessment may not be feasible for a few reasons.<sup>165</sup> First, quantitative exposure assessment may be best applied in settings where only one or a few hazards are being assessed (e.g., the recent Minnesota Wood Dust Study<sup>222</sup>) and is less feasible in settings with multiple exposures, regardless of whether outcomes are measured using exposure assessment methods or by self-report through worker surveys. In contrast, it is feasible to measure health promotion outcomes across a range of worksites and different types of occupations using the same measures, whether

through self-report on surveys or through more objective measures, such as biological samples to verify presence of a nutrient.

Second, statistical power issues must be considered. Assessing intervention effectiveness for OSH outcomes at the worksite level requires that many worksites be included in the study in order to detect intervention-related changes, depending on the type of intervention. Consider, for example, the type of OSH intervention applied in the WellWorks-2 study described above, which aimed to assess efficacy by comparing the extent to which worksite management in the control and intervention conditions made voluntary improvements in OSH conditions and programs at the urging of the intervention researchers, as measured at organizational and environmental levels. The sample size of 15 worksites may have been too small to detect statistically significant differences in the mean changes in outcomes (OSH program score and exposure prevention rating) between the two conditions. On the other hand, classic industrial hygiene interventions that aim, for example, to test whether an intervention such as installing a ventilation system reduces workers' exposure to levels of airborne contaminants, would require fewer worksites to demonstrate the efficacy of the intervention. In the case of the WellWorks-2 type of intervention, conducting quantitative exposure assessments across many worksites, and many different hazardous exposures within and across worksites, would have been difficult and very costly.

In an attempt to advance methods research in this area, as part of the WellWorks-2 study, LaMontagne et al<sup>165</sup> developed an exposure prevention rating method for the purposes of (1) setting priorities for interventions on hazardous substance exposures in manufacturing worksites, and (2) evaluating intervention effectiveness. Theoretically grounded in the "hierarchy of controls" model,<sup>76</sup> the rating method includes indicator variables to assess the potential for and prevention of exposures at three levels: *materials* (source of the hazard), *process* (path between source and worker), and *human interface* (worker). Initial field application of this rating method

in the Wellworks-2 study demonstrated its capability of providing common metrics across various hazardous substances encountered in 131 separate work processes in the study worksites. Additional research on this instrument is needed to refine indicator variables, validate the rating method against quantitative exposure assessment methods and other exposure metrics, and modifying the instrument for non-manufacturing settings.<sup>165</sup>

## G.3. Assessing intervention efficacy

The third phase in our research framework is the testing of intervention efficacy. A distinction is generally made between efficacy trials, which provide tests of an intervention under "optimal" conditions, and effectiveness trials, where testing is conducted under "real world" conditions.<sup>204,</sup> <sup>206</sup> Although the distinction between these phases may be blurred in some tests of public health interventions, we maintain this distinction here to underscore the need for full examination of the generalizability of an intervention to a range of populations and settings, as would be the focus of an effectiveness study (see Section G.4). An efficacy trial provides a test of a well-specified intervention, made available in a uniform manner and standard settings, to a specified target audience.<sup>206</sup> Here, the test would aim to determine an intervention's ability to reduce the potential for workers' exposures to job hazards and/or to produce changes in targeted health behaviors. As outlined in Sections C and D, in the past two decades an increasing number of studies have assessed the efficacy of workplace interventions targeting health behaviors; a growing number of studies have been initiated to assess OSH outcomes. In general but not always, the randomized controlled design is the accepted standard for assessing the efficacy of these interventions, with change being assessed from baseline to follow-up and compared between conditions, as a means particularly of controlling for secular trends.<sup>31, 223-225</sup>

These recommendations build on research conducted separately on worksite health promotion interventions and OSH interventions, as well as on the nascent research evaluating integrated interventions. As we described in Section E, few randomized controlled studies have assessed the efficacy of worksite interventions integrating worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety. The studies conducted to date have focused particularly on assessing change in cancer risk-related behaviors, with particular emphasis on tobacco; and among blue-collar workers, particularly in manufacturing settings. To move the field forward, we need to know if integrated OSH/WHP interventions are efficacious in changing both workers' health behaviors and their potential for exposures to hazards on the job. Following the description in Section G.2 above, integrated interventions need to be designed to address a range of job exposures and health behaviors, and the breadth of these interventions needs to be tested, in comparison to both traditional health promotion programs and standard OSH programs.

*Need for assessment of intervention efficacy for OSH and worksite health promotion outcomes* Following Figure 1, it is important that we test the efficacy of integrated OSH/WHP interventions in terms of both occupational health and safety and health behavior outcomes, at both the individual and organizational/environmental levels.

Occupational health and safety outcomes: In addition to issues of measurement across a range of worksites and types of hazards, as described above, researchers must also consider the level at which to measure effects of interventions on OSH conditions, and among whom. For example, there is a need for assessing the effectiveness of integrated programs in terms of OSH outcomes at both the worksite and individual levels. At the individual level, measures may include the use of self-report surveys, injury and illness records, or biomarkers for exposures among workers. At the worksite level, outcomes may be measured using quantitative exposure

assessment, visual inspections, record audits, a rating method such as one reported by LaMontagne et al,<sup>165</sup> or surveys of a single or multiple representative of the worksite.

<u>Health behavior outcomes</u>: As we describe in Section E, to date the strongest available evidence supports the efficacy of integrated OSH/WHP interventions in promoting smoking cessation, with emerging evidence pointing to additional significant effects for physical activity and diet. There is a need to examine the efficacy of integrated interventions in influencing a range of other behavioral outcomes. For example, in light of the growing epidemic of overweight and obesity in the US,<sup>34</sup> a high priority among these outcomes is the ability of integrated interventions to influence weight control and weight management.

Health behavior outcomes are usually assessed by measuring change in worker health behaviors, either through surveys of workers or through other tracking measures (e.g., use of pedometers to measure changes in physical activity or through review of medical records to validate self-reports of participation in prevention screening). As noted in Figure 2, worksite health promotion research has also looked at a range of other individual outcomes, including biological outcomes such as blood pressure, or changes in serum cotinine to verify smoking cessation. In addition, there are measurement instruments to detect worksite-level changes to promote healthy behaviors<sup>226, 227</sup> For example, the Heart Check<sup>226</sup> is a 226-item instrument that uses a dichotomous scoring system, with points awarded for favorable characteristics, such as a worksite smoking ban. It has been shown to be sensitive to detecting pre-post intervention changes.

*Need for assessment of the efficacy of diverse types of integrated OSH/WHP interventions* In addition to assessing the efficacy of integrated interventions on an expanded breadth of OSH and health behavior outcomes, across multiple levels of influence (see Figure 1), it is necessary

to design studies with careful attention to the comparison point of an intervention assessment, as we illustrate in Figure 5. Comparison of integrated OSH/WHP interventions against controls that offer no intervention addresses one key element in understanding the potential of these interventions. It is important, in addition, that we understand the contributions of integrated OSH/WHP interventions *over and above* the effects of either worksite health promotion alone, or OSH programs alone. The integrated OSH/WHP studies described in Section C were primarily intended to address whether the addition of OSH helped to boost the effectiveness of WHP outcomes. WellWorks-2, for example, compared the results of an integrated OSH/WHP intervention with results of worksite health promotion alone. Additional research is needed to examine the question: Does the integration of OSH and health promotion help to improve OSH outcomes compared to OSH alone? It may also beneficial to examine health behavior change within the context of this comparison. It bears noting that powering a study to detect change at the worksite-level requires a substantially larger number of worksites than studies for which the individual-level outcomes drive the sample size.

#### Inset Figure 5 about here

#### G.4. Assessing intervention effectiveness

Effectiveness studies provide validation of the generalizability of interventions whose efficacy has already been tested. Effectiveness trials require thorough assessments of program implementation, availability and acceptance, in order to allow researchers to determine if the lack of effectiveness is the result of inadequate program delivery, insufficient participation, or an inefficacious intervention.<sup>206</sup> Here, we focus on the need to understand how the integrated OSH/WHP programs work for diverse populations of workers when implemented in a range of

worksite settings. We also recommend the application of a range of research methodologies, in order to maximize the lessons to be learned from different study designs.

## Need for assessment of the efficacy of interventions for diverse groups of workers

In Section G.2, we recommended development of interventions for various occupational contexts and groups of workers within those contexts. It is important that we examine the generalizability of evidence-based integrated OSH/WHP interventions, based on adapting interventions for new settings and with different populations, using as a foundation lessons learned from prior research. As we describe in Section F, the changing trends in the workforce and the social inequalities in the distribution of workers' risks provide important information for setting priorities for this replication research. To summarize, key changes in the labor force that have implications for future adaptation and testing this intervention model include: (1) the growing service sector, and the increasing number of contingent workers; (2) the changing demographics of the workforce, including the growing number of immigrant workers and older workers; (3) increasing job insecurity arising from corporate downsizing, mergers, and acquisitions; (4) rising income inequalities and related social disparities in risk-related behaviors and hazardous occupational exposures; and (5) declining unionization rates. These changes point to key priorities for future research, to assure that integrated OSH/WHP interventions are generalizable across a range of industry settings, to workers in different occupations and representing diverse backgrounds, and addressing key job and life risks for these settings and populations.

## Consideration of a range of research methodologies

As future studies are designed to examine the efficacy and effectiveness of integrated interventions, it is important that the pros and cons of different study designs and methods be

considered. In the field of community intervention research, some have raised concerns that exclusive application of the randomized controlled design may restrict our ability to consider the complexity of social settings such as worksites.<sup>224, 228</sup> For example, as noted in Section E, the randomized controlled trial may not be an appropriate research design for assessment of the effects of the structural changes in the workplace, that clearly require management's leadership and initiative. The randomization of worksites to condition raises further challenges for intervention research in terms of both expense and statistical power.<sup>229-231</sup> The required standardization of the intervention in the randomized controlled trial may limit the intervention's effectiveness by failing to tailor to the needs of the site and to provide a vehicle for incorporating worker input.<sup>232</sup> In addition, it may not be feasible to randomize; indeed, full-scale implementation of integrated OSH/WHP programs must by necessity be initiated by management in collaboration with labor, thereby assuring that programmatic efforts can by systemically incorporated throughout all levels of the organization. Research on the effectiveness of such efforts may need to rely on non-randomized studies, including demonstration research conducted among convenience samples of worksites. Through the diversification of research methods, including observational studies, qualitative research, and participatory action research, it may be possible to address broader range of questions that will contribute to improved effectiveness of integrated OSH/WHP interventions.<sup>233-235</sup>

#### **G.5.** Process evaluation

We suggest four overarching aims for process evaluation: intervention implementation evaluation; cost analyses; assessment of worksite characteristics associated with participation; and process-to-outcome analyses.

## Need for intervention implementation evaluation

The parameters of implementation evaluation have been defined to include assessment of how a program is implemented, what intervention is provided, under what conditions, with delivery by whom and to whom.<sup>206</sup> It is important that future intervention research examine program implementation issues. Recent worksite health promotion trials have included rigorous assessments of the implementation of interventions through process tracking systems measuring such indicators as dose, or the amount of intervention delivered; fidelity, or the extent to which the intervention was delivered as planned; and program coverage, including participation in programs and awareness of environmental changes.<sup>236-243</sup> Likewise, in OSH aspects of the intervention, it is critical to systematically document how an intervention was carried out.<sup>225</sup> These data provide important information that enhances the ability to interpret outcome assessments, identify competing explanations for observed effects, and measure exposure to the intervention.<sup>228, 243-246</sup> For example, it is important to determine the dose of intervention necessary to achieve the targeted changes in health behaviors and potential for hazardous occupational exposures. Through intervention implementation evaluation, it may be possible to identify the minimum amount of intervention needed to have an impact, thereby defining costeffective strategies that efficiently maximize intervention outcomes without sacrificing intervention quality.<sup>247</sup>

#### Need for cost and related analyses

Second, there is a need for future research to include cost analyses and related measures (e.g., productivity, absenteeism) to assess costs, effectiveness, and benefits of integrated interventions. These findings will provide a basis for decision-making by employers and regulatory agencies, and may be useful in meeting the aim of creating the "business case" for integrated

interventions.<sup>9</sup> Such analyses can make use of new systems that allow for tracking costs via insurance claims and disability claims, with links provided to data on program participation and program costs.

## Assessment of worksite characteristics associated with participation

It is necessary to gain an understanding of the full range of factors that would promote and inhibit employer participation in integrated programs, as a first step toward developing strategies to engage employers in evidence-based OSH/WHP programs. Glasgow and colleagues have provided a framework for this research through their RE-AIM model, describing several components of intervention impacts.<sup>119</sup> They recommend that studies assess adoption, or the percent and representativeness of worksites that are willing to adopt a program. Within the context of worksite intervention research, for example, we might assess adoption rates in terms of the proportion of worksites that agree to participate in the study among those meeting study eligibility criteria, and compare the characteristics of adopters and non-adopters. In this way, it is possible to assess the external validity of worksite-based studies, that is, the extent to which worksites recruited into trials represent other worksites.<sup>55, 248, 249</sup>

Surveys of management may provide further information on factors influencing management interest and willingness to participate in integrated programs.<sup>250</sup> While it is clear that cost assessments can help to make the "business case" for employer participation based on an identification of potential savings in direct and indirect costs as a result of these programs, such research additionally can help to understand other motivators, such as employer concern for employee well-being, ability to recruit personnel and reduce turnover rates by offering comprehensive approaches to worker health, and positive community public relations. A better

understanding of the full range of motivators would help to identify strategies to promote participation in research and eventual adoption of programs shown to be effective.

## Need for process-to-outcome analyses

Third, there is a need for process-to-outcome evaluations in order to improve specification of effective intervention methods through assessment of the pathways through which interventions operate. That is, understanding-centered research that goes beyond an exclusive focus on outcomes to explore mechanisms and processes by which the outcomes occur. As we outline in Section G.1., clear specification of the theoretical or causal model guiding the intervention is needed in order to clarify the ways in which the "black box" of the intervention is expected to work.<sup>223, 251</sup> We have suggested a social contextual framework, as described in Section G.1, which specifies mediating mechanisms, meaning the pathways by which the intervention will influence the outcomes, such as social support; and modifying conditions, or the factors that are not influenced by the intervention but can independently influence outcomes, such as social class.<sup>5</sup> Mediating mechanisms and modifying conditions are specified according to a defined theoretical framework. This theory-driven approach offers numerous advantages, including the ability to identify pertinent variables and how, when, and on whom they should be measured; the ability to evaluate and control for sources of extraneous variance; and the ability to develop a cumulative knowledge base about how and when programs work.<sup>252-255</sup> When an intervention is unsuccessful at stimulating change, data on mediating mechanisms can allow investigators to determine whether the failure is due to the inability of the program to activate the causal processes that the theory predicts, or to an invalid program theory.<sup>255</sup>

This understanding–centered research is likewise able to elucidate the benefits and downsides of integrated OSH/WHP programs for workers as well as employers. Cost and related

analyses described above contribute to our ability to make a business case for these programs. In addition, we need to understand incentives and benefits for workers to participate in programs and to change health behaviors as a result, and to explore disadvantages and costs to their participation.

There is a need as well to consider the implications of a given intervention for secondary outcomes, determined based on the nature of the intervention. For example, work organization strategies designed to improve productivity and product quality (e.g., total quality management, reengineering, team concept, lean production, and patient-focused care) also impact on levels of employee participation, job stress and health risks.<sup>182, 225</sup>

#### G.6. Dissemination and durability research

The overarching aim of this research agenda is broad-based dissemination of evidence-based interventions that can be effectively sustained in worksites across the nation, thereby contributing to long-term improvements in worker health. In general, however, there remains a sizable gap between prevention science and prevention practice.<sup>256, 257</sup> Research in the final phase can inform this process by identifying, for example, effective dissemination processes, programmatic characteristics most likely to be adopted and sustained over time, and organizational characteristics associated with readiness for change.

#### Need for research on the sustainability of organizational and behavioral changes

Research is needed to examine the sustainability of a program within a worksite, as well as the maintenance of health behavior changes and OSH-related changes over time. For example, at the organizational level, it is important to consider: (1) the durability of the effects of the program on health benefits (e.g., worker illnesses, injuries, health behaviors) over time, beyond the initial

program; (2) continuation of the program activities within the organizational structure (e.g., continuation of engineering controls to reduce job hazards, continuation of worksite smoking policies); and (3) building the capacity of the worksite to sustain the intervention (e.g., training workers and managers to identify and ameliorate job hazards; increasing knowledge of community-based health promotion resources).<sup>258</sup> Assessing organizational/environmental changes only at the completion of the intervention may reflect a mismatch between the research timeline and the timeline of change as it occurs in workplaces, and therefore may underestimate intervention impact. Thus, there is a need for studies that examine changes well beyond the intervention period, bearing in mind that the validity of extended follow-up assessments relies on the capability of obtaining high response rates beyond the completion of the intervention. Theories of organizational change and innovation provide a conceptual approach for how new programs ("innovations") become incorporated or "institutionalized" within organizations.<sup>258-264</sup> Institutionalization reflects a process of mutual adjustment whereby changes are made in both the intervention and the organization.<sup>265</sup> Accordingly, the innovation loses its separate identity and becomes embedded within organizational structures and a routinized part of the organization's regular activities.<sup>259, 260, 266</sup>

## Need for research on the process of dissemination of tested interventions

To bridge the gap between research and implementation of evidence-based research, researchers and practitioners need to assure that the intervention has been shown to be effective, and that employers and workers are prepared and ready to adopt, implement, disseminate and institutionalize the intervention. Planning for dissemination must be structured into intervention design and made an integral part of planning from program inception, rather than a post-hoc consideration.

Dissemination of effective interventions requires the identification of both core and adaptive elements of the intervention.<sup>267-269</sup> Core elements are those features of a program or policy that *must* be replicated to maintain the integrity of the interventions as they are transferred to new settings. For example, core elements might include factors such as the inclusion of tested, theoretically-based behavior change strategies, targeting multiple levels of influence, and the involvement of empowered community leaders.<sup>270, 271</sup> Adaptive elements include those features of an intervention that can be tailored to organizational, social and economic realities of the new setting without diluting the intervention's effectiveness.<sup>267</sup> These adaptations might include timing and scheduling issues or modifications in culturally meaningful themes through which the educational and behavior change strategies are delivered. Dissemination research could help to identify alternatives to conceptualizing transfer of intervention technology from research to the practice setting. Rather than disseminating an exact replication of specific tested interventions, program transfer might be based on core and adaptive intervention components at both the individual and community/organizational levels, through dissemination research and process evaluation.<sup>240, 272, 273</sup>

There is a need to learn more about how dissemination occurs in order to increase the effectiveness of the process. Goldenhar and colleagues<sup>225</sup> pointed to several important questions for dissemination research in OSH that are clearly applicable to dissemination of integrated OSH/WHP interventions, including: (1) What factors hinder and facilitate the dissemination of effective interventions to appropriate worksites? (2) How can we increase the speed and improve the effectiveness of the dissemination process?<sup>225</sup> Dissemination research may additionally explore: What characteristics of worksite and union leaders are associated with dissemination of integrated programs? What personnel and material resources are needed to implement and maintain prevention programs? How can we provide both written materials

and training in program implementation that will preserve fidelity to core elements?<sup>267</sup> Dissemination research may also examine worksite organizational factors that may facilitate or hinder the adoption, implementation and maintenance of integrated OSH/WHP programs. Diffusion theory assumes that the unique characteristics of the adopter (i.e., worksite) interact with the specific attributes of the innovation (risk factor targets) to determine whether and when an innovation is adopted and implemented.<sup>260, 274, 275</sup>

Dissemination research can also help to identify strategies to increase participation in programs among worksites with limited resources to provide their own integrated OSH/WHP programs, such as businesses employing fewer than 50 people.<sup>111, 276</sup> Through effective dissemination of community programs, it may be possible to engage employers through outsourcing and in collaborating with other small worksites to purchase services.<sup>277</sup>

## G.7. Barriers to research

To accomplish this research agenda, it is important to attend to several key challenges. First, several methodological issues require careful consideration. As we discuss in Section G.4, there is a need for *diversification of research methods*, with particular attention to the development and adaptation of methods that bridge OSH and WHP. For example, although the randomized controlled design provides one rigorous method for assessing the efficacy of interventions, this study design may not be feasible or even desirable for some research questions, for example, for assessing the impacts of broad-based structural changes that require a level management commitment going beyond that which could be randomly assigned. It is important that a range of both inductive and deductive methodologies be articulated, taking advantage of the strengths of both OSH and WHP research traditions, in order to design rigorous, credible and reproducible investigations across the full range of research phases. In addition, studies must be designed with

careful attention to *maximizing the generalizability* of research findings. Too often only larger, more affluent, stable worksites are available for study, and the results of investigations may not be applicable to small businesses or those with more transient workforces. Worksites selected for inclusion in the studies must be representative of a larger population of worksites, and when individual workers are surveyed as part of the outcome assessment, it is important that they represent the work force from which they were sampled. The self-selection of worksites into studies may contribute to a response bias at the worksite level. In addition, there is a need for *valid and reliable measurement tools* that permit consistent assessment of outcomes across worksites participating in the research, and that are appropriate for diverse groups of workers. Finally, measurement of the full range of outcomes resulting from integrated OSH/WHP interventions requires *access to worksite data* permitting measurement of morbidity indicators, health care utilization, absenteeism, and related issues.

To accomplish the most useful research, investigators need access to a range of populations, through close collaborations with industry and labor. These relationships are best fostered over the long-term, through on-going partnerships based on a shared commitment to worker health. Such collaborations are likely to foster opportunities for observing the benefits to be derived from broad-based organizational changes integrating OSH and WHP. It is imperative that these relationships reflect the growing diversity of the labor market and the range of settings in which workers are employed, as we illustrate in our discussion of labor trends. To be effective with a range of audiences, intervention programs must take into account the assets and health strengths as well as health risks of workers of low socioeconomic status and from racial and ethnic minority groups.

Full implementation of these recommendations regarding interventions and research needed may also require changes in the ways that funders view and support OSH and WHP.

Categorical funding of research initiatives has furthered the segregation of these fields. A comprehensive view of worker health would be supported by systematic funding of interdisciplinary, collaborative research and training.

## **H.** Conclusions

In conclusion, as we move forward with an agenda for integrating OSH and worksite health promotion, it is critical that rigorous scientific evidence be the cornerstone of our planning. Advancing knowledge in this area requires that we attend to barriers for scientists, including the real work of assembling multi-disciplinary teams and identifying funding sources to support integrated studies. Research to develop and test effective intervention strategies integrating OSH and WHP requires an interdisciplinary approach. Experts in these areas read different journals, attend different professional meetings, and employ different research methodologies. Indeed, these diverse backgrounds have contributed to differing ideological perspectives about responsibility for worker health. The belief that worker health begins with individual behavior change sets in motion a different set of intervention strategies from the legal formulation in the Occupational Safety and Health Act, which starts from the assumption that management bears primary responsibility for worker health and safety on the job.<sup>1</sup> Overcoming the segmentation of these fields ultimately will require an inclusive, comprehensive model of work and health, providing for resolution – or at least understanding – of our differences assumptions, vocabulary, research methods, and intervention approaches.<sup>278</sup> It is possible to expand communication streams across disciplines to support transdisciplinary/inter-disciplinary strategies, for example, through shared journals or further shared symposiums such as the NIOSH symposium for which this document was created.

One vehicle to promote this requisite collaboration may be through the creation of multidisciplinary centers of excellence, bringing together researchers across disciplines and with diverse perspectives, yet with a shared focus on a common endpoint: the health of workers. To advance the field, it is important that these multidisciplinary teams of include representation of occupational health and safety, industrial hygiene, behavioral and social sciences, organizational change, health promotion, labor education, and cost analysis, among other areas, with the ability to apply both quantitative and qualitative research methods.<sup>1, 148</sup> Together, researchers in such centers may be able to create broad-based partnerships with industry and labor in the design and evaluation of feasible and innovative interventions integrating OSH and WHP. An emerging science of interdisciplinarity can help to inform the development and structure of these centers. Stokols has articulated, for example, key processes that can contribute to the success of transdisciplinary collaboration.<sup>209</sup> Through careful planning and purposeful and strategic operations, these centers of excellence may further advance the field by developing and applying rigorous research methodologies to evaluate the efficacy, generalizability, sustainability, and disseminability of these integrated interventions across a range of worksite settings.

Implementation of these research recommendations is also likely to necessitate changes in the ways that funding agencies like the National Institutes of Health and NIOSH view worker health proposals. The budgets for these agencies are also vastly discrepant, with NIOSH receiving far fewer resources than NIH institutes such as the National Cancer Institute. An interagency collaboration to jointly support integrated OSH/WHP interventions would provide much-needed resources to advance scientific discovery. It is important that such inter-agency funding extends rather than supplants current NIOSH efforts, thereby protecting the central function of NIOSH focused on worker health protection. A related issue is the way that funders currently review research proposals. At present, proposals to address health behavior

interventions are handled by certain review panels in NIH, while occupational health intervention proposals are separately addressed by a special occupational health review panel. Given the unique expertise represented by these panels, it may be difficult for investigators to convince members of one or the other review panel of the importance of integrated interventions, let alone to receive a sophisticated critique of study methods unique to each discipline. If NIH agencies and NIOSH join forces to support integrated intervention research, it would also be important to convene an ad hoc reviewer panel representing expertise in multiple relevant disciplines.

We have attempted to define a comprehensive agenda for future work, structured in a step-by-step fashion. The development and dissemination of effective intervention methods will be enhanced as research is implemented across the full spectrum of the phases of research – from methods development studies through dissemination research. By combining what we have learned to date from testing of worksite health promotion interventions and OSH interventions, we are well poised to launch the next generation of research in support of worker health.

## I. Literature cited

- Sorensen, G. Smoking cessation at the worksite: What works and what is the role of occupational health?, in *Work, Smoking, and Health, A NIOSH Scientific Workshop, June 15-16, 2000* (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Ed.), US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health; DHHS (NIOSH) Publication No. 2002-148, Cincinnati, OH, 2002.
- 2. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. NIOSH program plan by program areas for fiscal years 1984-89, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Centers for Disease Control, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Rockville, M.D., 1984.
- 3. McLeroy, K., Bibeau, D., Steckler, A., Glanz, K. An ecological perspective on health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly* 1988; 15: 351-377.
- 4. Stokols, D., Pelletier, K., Fielding, J. The ecology of work and health: Research and policy directions for the promotion of employee health. *Health Education Quarterly* 1996; 23: 137-158.
- 5. Sorensen, G., Barbeau, E., Hunt, M.K., Emmons, K. Reducing social disparities in tobacco use: A social contextual model for reducing tobacco use among blue-collar workers. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; 94: 230-239.
- 6. LaMontagne, A. Integrating health promotion and health protection in the workplace, in *Hands-on health promotion* (V. H. P. Foundation, Ed.), IP Communications, Melbourne, Australia, in press.
- 7. Levy, B.S., Wegman, D.H. *Occupational health: Recognizing and preventing workrelated disease and injury*, Lippincott, Williams and Wilkins, Philadelphia, PA, 2000.
- 8. Green, K.L., Johnson, J.V. The effect of psychological work organization on patterns of cigarette smoking among male chemical plant employees. *American Journal of Public Health* 1990; 80: 1368-1371.
- 9. DeJoy, D., Southern, D. An integrative perspective on worksite health promotion. *Journal of Medicine* 1993; 35: 1221-1230.
- 10. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Healthy People 2010: Understanding and improving health and objectives for health, 2nd edition, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 2000.
- 11. O'Donnell, M.P. Health impact of workplace health promotion programs and methodological quality of the research literature. *Art of Health Promotion* 1997; 1: 1-7.
- 12. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Guide to Clinical Preventive Services: An assessment of the effectiveness of 169 interventions, International Medical Publishing, Alexandria, V.A., 1996.
- 13. Walsh, D.W., Jennings, S.E., Mangione, T., Merrigan, D.M. Health promotion versus health protection? Employees' perceptions and concerns. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 1991; 12: 148-164.
- 14. Abrams, D.B. Conceptual models to integrate individual and public health interventions: The example of the workplace, in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Promoting Dietary Change in Communities* (M. Henderson, Ed.), The Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Center, Seattle, WA, 1991, pp. 173-194.
- 15. Chu, C., Driscoll, T., Dwyer, S. The health-promoting workplace: An integrative perspective. *The Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health* 1997; 21: 377-385.

- 16. Baker, E., Israel, B., Schurman, S. The integrated model: Implications for worksite health promotion and occupational health and safety practice. *Health Education Quarterly* 1996; 23: 175-188.
- 17. Blewett, V., Shaw, A. Health promotion, handle with care: Issues for health promotion in the workplace. *Journal of Occupational Health Safety* 1995; 11: 461-465.
- 18. Fielding, J.E. Smoking control at the workplace. *Annual Review of Public Health* 1991; 12: 209-234.
- 19. Robins, T., Klitzman, S. Hazard communication in a large U.S. manufacturing firm: The ecology of health education in the workplace. *Health Education Quarterly* 1988; 15: 451-472.
- Sorensen, G., Himmelstein, J.S., Hunt, M.K., Youngstrom, R., Hebert, J., Hammond, S.K., Palombo, R., Stoddard, A.M., Ockene, J. A model for worksite cancer prevention: Integration of health protection and health promotion in the WellWorks project. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1995; 10: 55-62.
- 21. Levenstein, C. Policy implications of intervention research: Research on the social context for intervention. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1996; 29: 358-361.
- 22. Green, K.L. Issues of control and responsibility in worker's health. *Health Education Quarterly* 1988; 15: 473-486.
- 23. Quinn, M.M. Occupational health, public health, worker health. *American Journal of Public Health* 2003; 93: 256.
- 24. Levenstein, C. Worksite Health Promotion. *American Journal of Public Health* 1989; 79: 11.
- 25. World Health Organization. Jakarta statement on healthy workplaces, World Health Organization, Jakarta, Indonesia, 1997.
- 26. European Network for Workplace Health Promotion. The Luxembourg declaration on workplace health promotion in the European Union, in *European Network for Workplace Health Promotion Meeting*, European Network for Workplace Health Promotion, Luxembourg, 1997.
- 27. World Health Organization. Regional guidelines for the development of healthy workplaces, World Health Organization, Western Pacific Regional Office, Shanghai, 1999, pp. 66.
- 28. World Health Organization. Anexo 6: Estrategia de promocion de la salud en los lugares de trabajo de America Latina y el Caribe, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2000, pp. 23.
- 29. World Health Organization. Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion, Vol. 2004, World Health Organization,, 1986.
- 30. Maes, S., Verhoeven, C., Kittel, F., Scholten, H. Effects of a Dutch worksite wellnesshealth program: The Brabantia project. *American Journal of Public Health* 1998; 88: 1037-1041.
- 31. Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A., Hunt, M.K., Herbert, J.R., Ockene, J.K., Spitz Avrunin, J., Himmelstein, J.S., Hammond, S.K. The effects of a health promotion-health protection intervention on behavior change: The WellWorks Study. *American Journal of Public Health* 1998; 88: 1685-1690.
- 32. Sorensen, G., Barbeau, E., Stoddard, A., Hunt, M.K., Kaphingst, K., Wallace, L. Promoting behavior change among working-class, multi-ethnic workers: Results of the Healthy Directions Small Business Study. *American Journal of Public Health* in press;
- 33. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Worker health chartbook 2000, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC, 2000.

- 34. Mokdad, A.H., Marks, J.S., Stroup, D.F., Gerberding, J.L. Actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2004; 291: 1238-1245.
- 35. Walsh, D.C., Sorensen, G., Leonard, L. Gender, health, and cigarette smoking, in *Society and health* (B. C. I. Amick, S. Levine, A. R. Tarlov, and D. C. Walsh, Eds.), Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 1995, pp. 131-171.
- 36. Marmot, M., Theorell, T. Social class and cardiovascular disease: The contribution of work, in *The psychosocial work environment: Work organization, democratization and health* (J. Johnson, and G. Johansson, Eds.), Baywood, Amityville, NY, 1991, pp. 21-48.
- 37. Karasek, R., Gardell, B., Lindell, J. Work and non-work correlates of illness and behaviour in male and female Swedish white-collar workers. *Journal of Occupational Behaviour* 1987; 8: 187-207.
- 38. Giovino, G., Pederson, L., Trosclair, A. The prevalence of selected cigarette smoking behaviors by occupation in the United States, in *Work, Smoking and Health: A NIOSH Scientific Workshop*, Washington, D.C., 2000.
- 39. National Center for Health Statistics. Table 150. Persons enrolled in health maintenance organizations (HMOs) by geographic region and state: United States, selected years 1980-2002, in *Health, United States 2003, with chartbook on trends in the health of Americans* (National Center for Health Statistics, Ed.), National Center for Health Statistics, Hyattsville, MD, 2003.
- 40. National Statistics (UK). The National Statistics Socio-Economic Classification (NS-SEC): Introduction, Vol. 2004, National Statistics (UK), 2004.
- 41. Anonymous. Cigarette smoking among adults: United States, 2002. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report* 2004; 53: 427-431.
- 42. Sarlio-Lahteenkorva, S., Silventoinen, K., Lahelma, E. Relative weight and income at different levels of socioeconomic status. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; 94: 468-472.
- 43. Galobardes, B., Morabia, A., Bernstein, M.S. The differential effect of education and occupation on body mass and overweight in a sample of working people of the general population. *Annals of Epidemiology* 2000; 10: 532-537.
- 44. Everson, S.A., Siobhan, C.M., Lynch, J.W., Kaplan, G.A. Epidemiologic evidence for the relation between socioeconomic status and depression, obesity, and diabetes. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research* 2002; 53: 891-895.
- 45. Mokdad, A. H., Ford, E. S., Bowman, B. A., Dietz, W. H., Vinicor, F., Bales, V. S., Marks, J. S. Prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and obesity-related health risk factors, 2001. *JAMA* 2003; 289: 76-9.
- 46. Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A., Hammond, S.K., Hebert, J.R., Ocklene, J.K. Double jeopardy: Job and personal risks for craftspersons and laborers. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1996; 10: 355-363.
- 47. Kant, A.K., Schatzkin, A., Block, G., Ziegler, R.G., Nestle, M. Food group intake patterns and associated nutrient profiles of the US population. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 1991; 91: 1532-1537.
- 48. Patterson, BH, Block, G. Food choices and the cancer guidelines. *Am J Public Health* 1988; 78: 282-286.
- 49. Conrad, K.M. Effect of worksite health promotion programs on employee absenteeism. *AAOHN Journal* 1990; 38: 573-580.
- 50. Bradbury, J.A. The policy implications of differing concepts of risk. *Science, Technology* & *Human Values* 1989; 14: 381-396.

- 51. Baker, F. Risk communication about environmental hazards. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 1990; 11: 341-359.
- 52. Fischoff, B., Bostrom, A., Quadrel, M.J. Risk perception and communication. *Annual Review of Health* 1993; 14: 183-200.
- 53. Warshaw, L.J., Messite, J. Health protection and promotion in the workplace: An overview, in *Encyclopaedia of occupational health and safety* (J. M. Stellman, Ed.), International Labour Office, Geneva, Switzerland, 1998, pp. 79-89.
- 54. Morris, W., Conrad, K., Marcantonio, R., Marks, B., Ribisl, K. Do blue-collar workers perceive the worksite health climate differently than white-collar workers? *Journal of Health Promotion* 1999; 13: 319-324.
- 55. Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A., Ockene, J.K., Hunt, M.K., Youngstrom, R. Worker participation in an integrated health promotion/health protection program: Results from the WellWorks Project. *Health Education Quarterly* 1996; 23: 191-203.
- 56. Ozminkowski, R.J., Ling, D., Goetzel, R.Z., Bruno, J.A., Rutter, K.R., Isaac, F., Wang, S. Long-term impact of Johnson & Johnson's Health & Wellness Program on health care utilization and expenditures. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2002; 44: 21-29.
- 57. Golaszewski, T. Shining lights: Studies that have most influenced the understanding of health promotion's financial impact. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 332-340.
- 58. Martinson, B.C., Crain, A.L., Pronk, N.P., O'Connor, P.J., Maciosek, M.V. Changes in physical activity and short-term changes in health care charges: A prospective cohort study of older adults. *Preventive Medecine* 2003; 37: 319-326.
- 59. Aldana, S.G. Financial impact of health promotion programs: A comprehensive review of the literature. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 296-320.
- 60. Harris, J.R., Holman, P.B., Carande-Kulis, V.G. Financial impact of health promotion: We need to know much more, but we know enough to act. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 378-382.
- 61. Aldana, S.G., Pronk, N.P. Health promotion programs, modifiable health risks, and employee absenteeism. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2001; 43: 36-46.
- 62. Sexner, S., Gold, D., Anderson, D., Williams, D. The impact of a worksite health promotion program on short-term disability usage. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2001; 43: 25-29.
- 63. Evans, C.J. Health and work productivity assessment: State of the art or state of flux. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2004; 46: S3-S11.
- 64. Goetzel, R.Z., Long, S.R., Ozminkowski, R.J., Hawkins, K., Wang, S., Lynch, W. Health, absence, disability and presenteeism cost estimates of certain physical and mental health conditions affecting US employers. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2004; 46: 398-412.
- 65. Ozminkowski, R.J., Goetzel, R.Z., Chang, S., Long, S. The application of two health and productivity instruments at a large employer. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2004; 43: 635-648.
- 66. Lahiri, S., Markkanen, P., Levenstein, C. Cost effectiveness of interventions to reduce occupational back pain, in *The World Health Report 2002: Reducing Risks, Promoting Healthy Life*, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2002.

- 67. Lahiri, S., Markkanen, P., Levenstein, C. The cost effectiveness of occupational health interventions: Preventing occupational back pain. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* in review;
- 68. Lahiri, S., Levenstein, C., Imel-Nelson, D., Rosenberg, B.J. The cost effectiveness of occupational health interventions: Prevention of silicosis. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* in review;
- 69. Lahiri, S., Gold, J., Levenstein, C. Esitmation of net-costs for prevention of occupational low back pain: Three case studies from the US. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* in review;
- 70. Seabury, S.A., Lakdawalla, D., Reville, R.T. The economics of integrating injury prevention and health promotion programs, in *Steps to a Healthier U.S. Workforce*, National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Washington, DC, 2004.
- 71. Goetzel, R.Z. Policy and practice: Examining the value of integrating occupational health and safety and health promotion programs in the workplace, in *Steps to a Healthier U.S. Workforce*, National Institute of Occupational Safety and Health, Washington, DC, 2004.
- 72. Taylor, C.A. The corporate response to rising health care costs, The Conference Board of Canada, Ottawa, ON, 1996.
- 73. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. OSHA Facts, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, U.S. Department of Labor, Washington, DC, 1996.
- 74. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. TED 8.1a Revised Voluntary Protection Programs (VPP) policies and procedures manual, Occupational Safety and Health Administration,, Washington, DC, 1996.
- 75. Henshaw, J.L. Address of the Assistant Secretary of the US Occupational Safety and Health Administration, in *VPPPA 18th Annual Conference* (Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Ed.), Orlando, FL, 2002.
- 76. Office of Technology Assessment. Preventing illness and injury in the workplace, Office of Technology Assessment, Congressional Board of the 99th Congress, US Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 1985.
- 77. Frick, K., Wren, J. Reviewing occupational health and safety management: Multiple roots, diverse perspectives and ambiguous outcomes, in *Systematic occupational health and safety management: Perspectives on an international development* (K. Frick, P. L. Jensen, M. Quinlan, and T. Wilthagen, Eds.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2000, pp. 17-42.
- 78. Frick, K., Jensen, P.L., Quinlan, M., Wilthagen, T. Systematic occupational health and safety management: An introduction to a new strategy for occupational safety, health and well-being, in *Systematic occupational health and safety management: Perspectives on an international development* (K. Frick, P. L. Jensen, M. Quinlan, and T. Wilthagen, Eds.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2000, pp. 1-14.
- 79. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Safety and health program management guidelines: Issuance of voluntary guidelines, Occupational Safety and Health Administration, Department of Labor, Washington, DC, 1989.
- 80. Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Draft proposed safety and health program rule, Vol. 2001, U.S Department of Labor, 1998.
- 81. Needleman, C.E. OSHA at the crossroads: Conflicting frameworks for regulating OHS in the United States, in *Systematic occupational health and safety management: Perspectives on an international development* (K. Frick, P. L. Jensen, M. Quinlan, and T. Wilthagen, Eds.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2000, pp. 67-85.

- LaMontagne, A.D., Youngstrom, R.A., Lewiton, M., Stoddard, A.M., McLellan, D., Wallace, L.M., Barbeau, E., Sorensen, G. Assessing and intervening on OSH programs: Effectiveness evaluation of the WellWorks-2 intervention in fifteen manufacturing worksites. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2004; 61: 651-660.
- 83. Barbeau, E., Roelofs, C., Youngstrom, R., Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A.M., LaMontagne, A.D. Assessment of occupational safety and health programs in small businesses. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2004; 45: 371-379.
- 84. Levenstein, C., Wooding, J. *The point of production: Work environment in advanced and industrialized societies*, Guilford Press, New York, NY, 1999.
- 85. Noble, C. *Liberalism at work: The rise and fall of OSHA*, Temple University Press, Philadelphia, PA, 1986.
- 86. Hamilton, A. *Exploring the dangerous trades: The autobiography of Alice Hamilton, MD*, Little Brown and Company, Boston, MA, 1943.
- 87. Roelofs, C., Barbeau, E., Moure-Eraso, R., Ellenbecker, M.J. Prevention strategies in industrial hygiene: A critical literature review. *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal* 2003; 64: 62-67.
- 88. Goldenhar, L.M., Schulte, P.A. Intervention research in occupational health and safety. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 1994; 36: 763-775.
- 89. Zwerling, C., Daltroy, L.H., Fine, L.J., Johnston, J.J., Melius, J., Silverstein, B.A. Design and conduct of occupational injury intervention studies: A review of evaluation strategies. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1997; 32: 164-179.
- 90. Johnston, J.J., Cattledge, G.T.H., Collins, J.W. The efficacy of training for occupational injury control. *Occupational Medicine* 1994; 9: 147-158.
- 91. Karas, B.E., Conrad, K.M. Back injury prevention interventions in the workplace: An integrative review. *AAOHN Journal* 1996; 44: 189-196.
- 92. Guastello, S.J. Do we really know how well our occupational accident prevention programs work? *Safety Science* 1993; 16: 445-463.
- 93. Shannon, H.S., Robson, L.S., Sale, J.E.M. Creating safer and healthier workplaces: Role of organizational factors and job characteristics. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2001; 40: 319-334.
- 94. Rivara, F.P., Thompson, D.C. Systematic reviews of injury prevention strategies for occupational injuries: An overview. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 2000; 18: 1-3.
- 95. Eakin, J.M., Lamm, P., Limborg, H.J. International perspectives on the promotion of health and safety in small workplaces, in *Systematic OHS management: Perspectives on an international development* (J. P. L. Frick K., Quinlan M., Wilthagen T., Ed.), Elsevier Press, Amsterdam, Netherlands, 2000.
- 96. U.S. Small Business Administration, Office of Advocacy. Characteristics of small business employees and owners, 1997, Vol. 2004, U.S. Small Business Administration, Office of Advocacy, 2003.
- 97. Lusk, S.L., Raymond, D.M. 3rd. Impacting health through the worksite. *Nursing Clinics* of North America 2002; 37: 247-256.
- 98. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. National occupational research agenda: Organization of work, Vol. 2004, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 1999.
- 99. Rosenstock, L., Olenec, C., Wagner, G.R. The National Occupational Research Agenda: A model of broad stakeholder input into priority setting. *American Journal of Public Health* 1998; 88: 353-356.

- 100. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. National Occupational Research Agenda: Intervention effectiveness, Vol. 2004, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, 2004.
- 101. O'Donnell, M.P. (Ed.) *Health promotion in the workplace, 3rd edition*, Delmar Thomson Learning, Toronto, ON, 2002.
- 102. Partnership for Prevention. Prevention priorities: Employers guide to the highest value preventive services, Partnership for Prevention,, Washington, DC, 2001.
- Harris, J.S., Fries, J. The health effects of health promotion, in *Health promotion in the workplace, 3rd edition* (M. P. O'Donnell, Ed.), Delmar Thompson Learning, Toronto, ON, 2002, pp. 1-22.
- 104. O'Donnell, M.P., McDonald, T., Harris, J. Design of workplace health promotion programs, in *Health promotion in the workplace, 3rd edition* (M. P. O'Donnell, Ed.), Delmar Thomson Learning, Toronto, ON, 2002, pp. 49-77.
- 105. Business for Social Responsibility, Corporate Social Responsibility. Issue Brief: Health and Wellness, Vol. 2004, Business for Social Responsibility, 2004.
- 106. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. National Health Interview Survey, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, Atlanta, GA, 1994.
- 107. Grosch, J., Alterman, T., Petersen, M., Murphy, L. Worksite health promotion programs in the U.S.: Factors associated with availability and participation. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1998; 13: 36-45.
- 108. Linnan, L.A., Sorensen, G., Colditz, G., Klar, N., Emmons, K. Using theory to understand the multiple determinants of low participation in worksite health promotion programs. *Health Education and Behavior* 2001; 28: 591-607.
- 109. Conrad, P. Wellness in the work place: Potentials and pitfalls of work-site health promotion. *Milbank Quarterly* 1987; 65: 255-275.
- 110. Gebhardt, D.L., Crump, C. Employee fitness and wellness programs in the workplace. *American Psychology* 1990; 262-272.
- 111. Glasgow, R.E., McCaul, K.D., Fisher, K.J. Participation in worksite health promotion: A critique of the literature and recommendations for future practice. *Health Education Quarterly* 1993; 20: 391-408.
- 112. Erfurt, J. The Wellness Outreach at Work program: A step-by-step guide, National Institutes of Health, Washington, D.C., 1995.
- 113. Association for Worksite Health Promotion. *1999 National Worksite Health Promotion Survey*, Association for Worksite Health Promotion, Northbrook, IL, 1999.
- 114. Linnan, L., Fava, J.L., Thompson, B., Emmons, K.M., Basen-Engquist, K., Probart, C., Hunt, M.K., Heimendinger, J. Measuring participatory strategies: Instrument development for worksite populations. *Health Education Research* 1999; 14: 371-386.
- 115. Alexy, B. Workplace health promotion and the blue-collar worker. *American Association of Occupational Health Nurses Journal* 1990; 38: 12-16.
- 116. Eriksen, M.P., Gottlieb, N.H. A review of the health impact of smoking control at the workplace. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1998; 13: 83-104.
- 117. Moher, M., Hey, K., Lancaster, T. Workplace interventions for smoking cessation. *The Cochrane Library* 2003; 3:
- 118. Abrams, D.B., Orleans, C.T., Niaura, R.S., Goldstein, M.G., Prochaska, J.O., Velicer, W. Integrating individual and public health perspectives for treatment of tobacco dependence under managed health care: A combined stepped-care and matching model. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine* 1996; 18: 290-304.

- 119. Glasgow, R.E., McKay, H., Piette, J., Reynolds, K.D. The RE-AIM framework for evaluating interventions: What can it tell us about approaches to chronic illness management? *Patient Education and Counseling* 2001; 44: 119-127.
- 120. Rimer, B.K., Orleans, C.T., Fleisher, L., Cristinzio, S., Resch, N., Telepchak, J., Keintz, M.K. Does tailoring matter? The impact of a tailored guide on ratings and short-term smoking-related outcomes for older smokers. *Health Education Research* 1994; 9: 69-84.
- 121. King, E, Rimer, BK, Seay, J, Balshem, A, Enstrom, PF. Promoting mammography use through progressive interventions: Is it effective? *Am J Public Health* 1994; 84: 104-106.
- 122. Velicer, W.F., Prochaska, J.O., Bellis, J.M., DiClemente, C.C., Rossi, J.S., Fava, J.L., Steiger, J.H. An expert system intervention for smoking cessation. *Addictive Behaviors* 1993; 18: 269-290.
- 123. Curry, S.J., McBride, C.M., Grothaus, L.C., Louie, D., Wagner, E.H. A randomized trial of self-help materials personalized feedback and telephone counseling with nonvolunteer smokers. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology* 1995; 63: 1005-1014.
- 124. Rimer, B.K., Glassman, B. Tailoring communications for primary care settings. *Methods* of *Information in Medicine* 1997; 37: 171-177.
- 125. Stillman, F.A., Becker, D.M., Swank, R.T. Ending smoking at the Johns Hopkins Medical Institutions. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1990; 246: 1565-1592.
- 126. Marcus, B.H., Emmons, K.M., Abrams, D.B., Marshall, R.M., Kane, M, Novotny, T.E., Etzel, R.A. Restrictive workplace smoking policies: Impact on nonsmoker's tobacco exposure. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 1992; 13: 42-51.
- Hammond, S.K., Sorensen, G., Youngstrom, R., Ockene, J.K. Occupational exposure to environmental tobacco smoke. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 1995; 37: 453-460.
- 128. Paulozzi, L.J., Spengler, R.F., Gower, G.A. An evaluation of the Vermont Worksite Smoking Law. *Public Health Reports* 1992; 107: 724-726.
- 129. Kinne, S., Kristal, A.R., White, E. Worksite smoking policies: Their population impact in Washington State. *American Journal of Public Health* 1993; 83: 1031-1033.
- 130. Woodruff, T.J., Rosbrook, B., Pierce, B., Glantz, S.T. Lower levels of cigarette consumption found in smoke-free workplaces in California. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 1993; 153: 1485-1493.
- 131. Brigham, J., Gross, J., Stitzer, M.L. Effects of a restricted worksite smoking policy on employees who smoke. *American Journal of Public Health* 1994; 84: 773-778.
- 132. Pierce, J.P., Shanks, T.G., Pertschuk, M. Do smoking ordinances protect non-smokers from environmental tobacco smoke at work? *Tobacco Control* 1994; 3: 15-20.
- 133. Jeffery, R.W., French, S.A., Raether, C., Baxter, J.E. An environmental intervention to increase fruit and salad purchases in a cafeteria. *Preventive Medicine* 1994; 23: 788-792.
- 134. Sorensen, G., Rigotti, N., Rosen, A., Pinney, J., Prible, R. Employee knowledge of and attitudes about a worksite nonsmoking policy: Rationale for further smoking restrictions. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 1991; 33: 1125-1130.
- 135. Sorensen, G., Linnan, L., Hunt, M.K. Worksite-based research and initiatives to increase fruit and vegetable consumption. *Preventive Medicine* 2004; 39: S94-S100.
- Glanz, K., Sorensen, G., Farmer, A. The health impact of worksite nutrition and cholesterol intervention programs. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1996; 10: 453-470.
- 137. Pelletier, K.R. A review and analysis of the clinical and cost-effectiveness studies of comprehensive health promotion and disease management programs at the worksite: 1998-2000 update. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 16: 107-116.
- 138. Eakin, J.M., Cava, M., Smith, T.F. From theory to practice: A determinants approach to workplace health promotion in small businesses. *Health Promotion Practice* 2001; 2: 172-181.
- 139. Bettenhausen, K., Murnighan, J.K. The emergence of norms in competitive decisionmaking groups. *Administrative Science Quarterly* 1985; 30: 350-372.
- 140. Raven, B., Rubin, J. *Social psychology: People in groups*, Wiley Press, New York, N.Y., 1976.
- 141. Rose, G. Sick individuals and sick populations. *International Journal of Epidemiology* 1985; 14: 32-38.
- 142. Rose, G. *The strategy of preventive medicine*, Oxford University Press, New York, N.Y., 1992.
- 143. Tosteson, A.N.A., Weinstein, M.C., Hunink, M.G.M., Mittleman, M.A., Williams, L.W., Goldman, P.A., Goldman, L. Cost-effectiveness of population-wide educational approaches to reduce serum cholesterol levels. 1997; (In press).
- 144. Linnan, L., LaMontagne, A., Stoddard, A., Emmons, K., Sorensen, G. Worksite-level norms concerning smoking, nutrition and occupational health and safety practices: Results of the WellWorks-2 Study. *American Journal of Health Behavior* in press;
- 145. Landsbergis, P. The changing organization of work and the health and safety of working people: A commentary. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2003; 45: 61-72.
- 146. Eakin, J.M. Work-related determinants of health behavior, in *Handbook of health behavior research I: Personal and social determinants* (D. S. Gochman, Ed.), Plenum Press, New York, NY, 1997, pp. 337-357.
- 147. Dryson, E.W. Preferred components of an occupational health service for small industry in New Zealand: Health protection or health promotion? *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 1995; 45: 31-34.
- 148. Israel, B., Baker, E., Goldenhar, L., Heaney, C., Schurman, S. Occupational stress, safety, and health: Conceptual framework and principals for effective prevention interventions. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 1996; 1: 261-286.
- 149. Corneil, D.W., Yassi, A. Ethics in Health Protection and Health Promotion. *Encyclopedia* of Occupational Health and Safety 1998; 19: 18-23.
- 150. Shain, M., Kramer, D.M. Health promotion in the workplace: Framing the concept, reviewing the evidence. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2004; 61: 643-648.
- 151. Chapman Walsh, D. Toward a sociology of worksite health promotion: A few reactions and reflections. *Social Science and Medicine* 1988; 26: 569-575.
- 152. Koplin, A.N., Davidow, B., Backman, P., Escobar, V. The combined employee health risk occupational hazard appraisal: The New York City experience. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 1988; 9: 42-55.
- 153. Marcus, A.C., Baker, D.B., Froines, J. The ICWU cancer control and evaluation program: Research design and needs assessment. *Journal of Occupational Medicine* 1986; 28: 226-236.
- 154. Schenck, A., Thomas, R., Hochbaum, G., Beliczky, L. A labor and industry focus on education: Using baseline survey data in program design. *Health Education Research* 1987; 33-44.

- 155. Porru, S., Donato, F., Apostoli, P., Coniglio, L., Duca, P., Alessio, L. The utility of health education among lead workers: The experience of one program. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 1993; 22: 473-481.
- 156. Sandroff, D.J., Bradford, S., Gilligan, V.F. Meeting the health promotion challendge through a model of shared responsibility. *Occupational Medicine* 1990; 5: 677-690.
- 157. Isaac, F., Flynn, P. Johnson & Johnson LIVE FOR LIFE Program: Now and then. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 365-367.
- 158. Edington, M., Karjalainen, T., Hirschland, D., Edington, D.W. The UAW-GM Health Promotion Program: Successful outcomes. *American Association of Occupational Health Nurses Journal* 2002; 50: 26-31.
- 159. Whitehead, D.A. A corporate perspective on health promotion: Reflections and advice from Chevron. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 367-369.
- 160. Anderson, M.A., Stoltzfus, J.A. The 3M corporate experience: Health as a business strategy. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 371-373.
- 161. Stave, G.M. The Glaxo Wellcome health promotion program: The contract for health and wellness. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2001; 15: 358-360.
- 162. Ozminkowski, R.J., Dunn, R.L., Goetzel, R.Z., Cantor, R.I., Murnane, J., M., Harrison. A return on investment evaluation of the Citibank, N.A., health management program. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1999; 14: 31-43.
- 163. Ozminkowski, R.J., Goetzel, R.Z., Smith, M.W., Cantor, R.I., Shaughnessy, A., Harrison, M. The impact of the Citibank, NA, Health Management Program on changes in employee health risks over time. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2000; 42: 502-511.
- 164. Sorensen, G., Stoddard, A., LaMontagne, A., Emmons, K., Hunt, M., Youngstrom, R., McLellan, D., Christiani, D. A comprehensive worksite cancer prevention intervention: Behavior change results from a randomized controlled trial in manufacturing worksites (United States). *Cancer Causes and Control* 2002; 13: 493-502.
- 165. LaMontagne, A., Youngstrom, R., Lewiton, M., Stoddard A., Perry, M., Klar, J., Christiani, D.C., Sorensen, G. An exposure prevention rating method for intervention needs assessment and effectiveness evaluation. *Applied occupational and environmental hygiene* 2003; 18: 523-534.
- 166. LaMontagne, A.D., Stoddard, A.M., Youngstrom, R.A., Lewiton, M., Klar, J.M., Sorensen, G. Improving the prevention and control of hazardous substance exposures: A randomized controlled trial in manufacturing worksites. in review;
- 167. Hunt, M.K., Lederman, R., Stoddard, A.M., LaMontagne, A.D., McLellan, D., Combe, C., Barbeau, E., Sorensen, G. Integrating occupational health and health promotion in the WellWorks-2 worksite intervention study: Process evaluation results. *Health Education and Behavior* in press;
- 168. Colditz, G. Disseminating research findings into public health practice (editorial). *Cancer Causes and Control* 2002; 13: 503-504.
- 169. Barbeau, E., McLellan, D., Levenstein, C., Delaurier, G., Kelder, G., Sorensen, G. Reducing occupation-based disparities related to tobacco: Roles for occupational health and organized labor. *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 2004; 46: 170-179.
- U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, Office of Productivity and Technology, Comparative civilian labor force statistics: Ten countries, 1959-2003, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, 2004.
- 171. Westerlund, H., Theorell, T., Alfredsson, L. Organizational instability and cardiovascular risk factors in white-collar employees: An analysis of correlates of structural instability of

workplace organization on risk factors for coronary heart disease in a sample of 3,904 white collar employees in the Stockholm region. *European Journal of Public Health* 2004; 14: 37-42.

- 172. Cameron, K., Freeman, S.J., Mishra, A.K. Best practices in whitecollar downsizing: Managing contradictions. *Academy of Management Executive* 1991; 5: 57-73.
- 173. Ashford, S., Lee, C., Bobko, P. Content, causes, and consequences of job insecurity: A theory-based measure and substantive test. *Academy of Management Journal* 1989; 32: 803-829.
- 174. Davy, J., Kinicki, A., Scheck, C. Developing and testing a model of survivor responses to layoffs. *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 1991; 38: 302-317.
- Probst, T.M. Wedded to the job: Moderating effects of job involvement on the consequences of job insecurity. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 2000; 5: 63-73.
- 176. Dooley, D., Rook, K., Catalano, R. Job and non-job stressors and their moderators. *Journal of Occupational Psychology* 1987; 60: 115-132.
- 177. Kuhnert, K., Sims, R., Lahey, M. The relationship between job security and employees' health. *Group and Organizational Studies* 1989; 14: 399-410.
- 178. Roskies, E., Louis-Guerin, C. Job insecurity in managers: Antecedents and consequences. *Journal of Organizational Behavior* 1990; 11: 345-359.
- 179. Dekker, S.W., Shaufeli, W.B. The effects of job insecurity on psychological health and withdrawal: A longitudinal study. *Australian Psychologist* 1995; 30: 57-63.
- 180. Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., Pentti, J., Linna, A., Virtanen, M., Virtanen, P., Ferrie, J.E. Organisational downsizing, sickness absence, and mortality: 10-town prospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal* 2004; 328: 555.
- 181. Lee, S., Colditz, G.A., Berkman, L.F., Kawachi, I. Prospective study of job insecurity and coronary heart disease in US women. *Annals of Epidemiology* 2004; 14: 24-30.
- 182. Landsbergis, P., Cahill, J., Schnall, P. The impact of lean production and related new systems of work organization on worker health. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology* 1999; 4: 108-130.
- 183. Winston, S. Labor deptartment report confirms trend toward temporary workforce, according to expert, in *AOL Business News Center*, 2000.
- 184. Crittenden, A. Lifestyles. Working Women 1994; 19: 32-35.
- 185. Thompson, J.A. The contingent workforce: The solution to the paradoxes of the new economy. *Strategy and Leadership* 1997; 25: 44-45.
- 186. Schaudies, J.P., Sokolow, D.H., Whitehead, S.J. Chasing a revolution: Employment laws affecting the flexible workforce. *Benefits Quarterly* 1999; 15: 26-36.
- 187. Osterman, P. Securing prosperity, The American labor market: How it has changed and what to do about it, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1999.
- 188. Colclough, G., Tolbert, C.M. Work in the fast lane: Flexibility, division of labor, and inequality in high tech industries, SUNY Press, Albany, NY, 1992.
- 189. Kivimaki, M., Vahtera, J., Virtanen, M., Elovainio, M., Pentti, J., Ferrie, J. Temporary employment and risk of overall and cause-specific mortality. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 2003; 158: 663-668.
- 190. Medoff, J., Shapiro, H., M., Calabrese. The impact of labor market trends on health care coverage, The Center for National Policy, Washington, DC, 2000.
- 191. Ni, H., Cohen, R. Trends in health insurance coverage by race/ethnicity among persons under 65 years of age: United States, 1997-2001, U.S. Department Of Health And Human

Services, Centers For Disease Control And Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, Washington, DC, 2001.

- 192. U.S. Census Bureau. Historical income tables: Families, Vol. 2004, U.S. Census Bureau,, 2004.
- 193. Mishel, L., Bernstein, J., Allegretto, S. *The state of working America 2004-2005*, Economic Policy Institute, Cornell University Press, Ithaca, NY, 2004.
- 194. U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. National Compensation Survey: Occupational wages in the United States, Vol. 2003, U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2002.
- 195. U.S. Bureau of the Census. Poverty 2002, Vol. 2003, U.S. Bureau of the Census, 2002.
- 196. Isaacs, S.L., Schroeder, S.A. Class: The ignored determinant of the nation's health. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2004; 351: 1137-1142.
- 197. Williams, D.R. Race and health: Trends and policy implications, in *Income, socioeconomic status, and health: Exploring the relationships* (J. A. Auerbach, and B. K. Krimgold, Eds.), National Policy Association, Washington, DC, 2001, pp. 74.
- 198. Krieger, N., Fee, E. Social class: The missing link in US health data. *International Journal of Health Services* 1994; 24: 25-44.
- 199. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Union Members in 2002, Vol. 2004, Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2002.
- 200. Gottschalk, M. *The shadow welfare state: Labor, business and the politics of health care in the United States*, ILR Press, Ithaca, NY, 2000.
- 201. Bureau of Labor Statistics. Current population survey, Vol. 2002, 1997.
- 202. Institute of Medicine, Committee on Communication for Behavior Change in the 21st Century: Improving the Health of Diverse Populations. *Speaking of health: Assessing health communication strategies for diverse populations*, National Academies Press, Washington, DC, 2002.
- 203. Gobble, D. Aging and worksite health promotion, in *Health promotion in the workplace*, *3rd edition* (M. P. O'Donnell, Ed.), Delmar Thomson Learning, Toronto, ON, 2002.
- 204. Greenwald, P., Cullen, J.W. A scientific approach to cancer control. *Cancer* 1984; 25: 236-244.
- 205. National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. *Guidelines for demonstation and education research grants*, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, Washington, DC, 1983.
- 206. Flay, B.R. Efficacy and effectiveness trials (and other phases of research) in the development of health promotion programs. *Preventive Medicine* 1986; 15: 451-474.
- 207. Eakin, J.M., Robertson, A., Poland, B., Coburn, D., Edwards, R. Towards a critical social science perspective on health promotion research. *Health Promotion International* 1996; 11: 157-165.
- 208. Eakin, J.M. Leaving it up to the workers: Sociological perspective on the management of health and safety in small workplaces. *International Journal of Health Services* 1992; 22: 689-704.
- 209. Stokols, D., Harvey, R., Gress, J., Fuqua, J., Phillips, K. InVivo studies of transdisciplinary scientific collaboration: Lessons learned and implications for active living research. in review;
- 210. Berkman, L.F., Kawachi, I. (Eds.) *Social epidemiology*, Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 2000.
- 211. Frumkin, H., Pransky, G. Special populations in occupational health, in *Occupational medicine: State of the art reviews, special populations* (H. Frumkin, and G. Pransky, Eds.), Hanley and Belfus, Inc., Philadelphia, PA, 1999.

- 212. Frumkin, H., Walker, E.D., Friedman-Jimenez, G. Minority workers and communities. *Occupational Medicine* 1999; 14: 495-517.
- 213. Institute of Medicine. *Promoting health: Intervention strategies from social and behavioral research*, National Academy Press, Washington, DC, 2000.
- 214. Sorensen, G., Emmons, K., Hunt, M.K., Barbeau, E., Goldman, R., Peterson, K., Kuntz, K., Stoddard, A., Berkman, L. Model for incorporating social context in health behavior interventions: Applications for cancer prevention for working-class, multiethnic populations. *Preventive Medicine* 2003; 37: 188-197.
- 215. Graham, H. Gender and class as dimensions of smoking behavior in Britain: insights from a survey of mothers. *Social Science Medicine* 1994; 38: 691-698.
- 216. Graham, H. *When life's a drag: Women, smoking and disadvantage*, University of Warwick, Department of Health, London, U.K., 1994.
- 217. Graham, H. Promoting health against inequality: Using research to identify targets for intervention, A case study of women and smoking. *Health Education Journal* 1998; 57: 292-302.
- 218. Devine, C.M., Connors, M.M., Sobal, J., Bisogni, C.A. Sandwiching it in: Spillover of work onto food choices and family roles in low- and moderate-income urban households. *Social Science Medicine* 2003; 56: 617-630.
- 219. Kuh, D.J., Ben-Sholmo, Y. *A life course approach to adult disease*, Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 1997.
- 220. Johnson, J., Stewart, W. Measuring work organization exposure over the life course with a job-exposure matrix. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment and Health* 1993; 19: 21-28.
- 221. Howard, J. Navigating uncharted territory in occupational safety and health research: 21st century challenges, in *American Industrial Hygiene Conference*, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Dallas, TX, 2003.
- 222. Lazovich, D., Parker, D.L., Brosseau, L.M., Milton, F.T., Dugan, S.K., Pan, W., Hock, L. Effectiveness of a worksite intervention to reduce an occupational exposure: The Minnesota Wood Dust Study. *American Journal of Public Health* 2002; 92: 1498-1505.
- 223. Koepsell, T.D., Wagner, E.H., Cheadle, A.C., Patrick, D.L., Martin, D.C., Diehr, P.H., Perrin, E.B., Kristal, A.R., Allan-Andrilla, C.H., Dey, L.J. Selected methodological issues in evaluating community-based health promotion and disease prevention programs. *Annual Review of Public Health* 1992; 13: 31-57.
- 224. Susser, M. Editorial: The tribulations of trials interventions in communities. *American Journal of Public Health* 1995; 85: 156-158.
- 225. Goldenhar, L.M., LaMontagne, A.D., Katz, T., Heaney, C., Landsbergis, P. The intervention research process in occupational safety and health: An overview for the National Occupational Research Agenda Intervention Effectiveness Research Team. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2001; 43: 616-622.
- 226. Golaszewski, T., Fisher, B. Heart Check: The development and evolution of an organizational heart health assessment. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2002; 17: 132-153.
- 227. Oldenburg, B., Sallis, J.F., Harris, D., Owen, N. Checklist of health promotions environments at worksites (CHEW). *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2002; 16: 288-299.
- 228. McKinlay, J.B. The promotion of health through planned sociopolitical change: Challenges for research and policy. *Social Science and Medicine* 1993; 36: 109-117.

- 229. Murray, DM. Design and Analysis of Community Trials: Lessons from the Minnesota Heart Health Program. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1995; 142: 569-575.
- Murray, R.P., Johnston, J.J., Dolce, J.J., Wong Lee, W., O'Hara, P. Social Support for Smoking Cessation and Abstinance: The Lung Health Study. *Addictive Behaviors* 1995; 20: 159-170.
- 231. Koepsell, T.D., Diehr, P.H., Cheadle, A., Kristal, A. Invited commentary: Symposium on community intervention trials. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 1995; 142: 594-599.
- 232. Fisher, E.B. Editorial: The results of the COMMIT trial. *American Journal of Public Health* 1995; 85: 159-160.
- 233. Israel, Barbara A. Social networks and social support: Implications for natural helper and community level interventions. *Health Education Quarterly* 1985; 12: 65-80.
- 234. Eng, E., Blanchard, L. Action-oriented community diagnosis: A health education tool. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education* 1990-1991; 11: 93-110.
- 235. Robertson, A., Minkler, M. New health promotion movement: A critical examination. *Health Education Quarterly* 1994; 21: 295-312.
- 236. McGraw, S.A., McKinley, S.M., McClemments, L., Lasater, T.M., Assaf, A., Carleton, R.A. Methods in program evaluation: the process evaluation systems of the Pawtucket Heart Health Program. *Evaluation Review* 1989; 13: 459-483.
- 237. McGraw, S.A., Stone, E.J., Osganian, S.K., Elder, J.P., Perry, C.L., Johnson, C.C., Parcel, G.S., Webber, L.S., Luepker, R.V. Design of process evaluation within the Child and Adolescent Trial for Cardiovascular Health (CATCH). *Health Education Quarterly* 1994; Suppl 2: S5-S26.
- 238. Corbett, K, Thompson, B, White, N, Taylor, M. Process evaluation in the community intervention trial for smoking cessation (COMMIT). *Int'l Quarterly of Community Health Education* 1991; 11: 291-309.
- 239. Scheirer, M.A., Shediac, M.C., Cassady, C.E. Measuring the implementation of health promotion programs: The case of the breast and cervical cancer program in Maryland. *Health Education Research* 1995; 10: 11-25.
- 240. Hunt, M.K., Lederman, R., Stoddard, A., Potter, S., Phillips, J., Sorensen, G. Process tracking results from the Treatwell 5-A-Day worksite study. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 2000; 14: 179-187.
- 241. Linnan, L., Steckler, A. Process evaluation and public health interventions: An overview, in *Process evaluation in public health interventions and research*, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, CA, 2002.
- 242. Linnan, L., Thompson, B., Kobetz, E. Process evaluation results from the Working Well Trial, in *Process evaluation in public health interventions and research: Theory and practice* (A. Steckler, and L. Linnan, Eds.), Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, CA, 2002, pp. 155-183.
- 243. Steckler, A., L., Linnan (Eds.) *Process evaluation in public health interventions: Theory and practice*, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, CA, 2002.
- Jacobs, D.R., Forster, J.L., Jeffery, R.W., Perry, C.L. Methodological issues in worksite health intervention research: II. Computation of variance in worksite data: unit of analysis, US Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, DC, 1988, pp. 77-89.
- 245. Scheirer, M.A. Implementation and process analysis, in *Methodological issues in worksite research* (K. Johnson, J. H. LaRosa, C. J. Scheirer, and J. M. Wolle, Eds.), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington, D.C., 1988, pp. 41-93.

- 246. Sorensen, G., Emmons, K., Hunt, M.K., Johnston, D. Implications of the results of community intervention trials. *Annual Review of Public Health* 1998; 19: 379-416.
- 247. Sobell, M.B., Sobell, L.C. Stepped care as a heuristic approach to the treatment of alcohol problems. *Journal of Counseling and Clinical Psychology* 2000; 68: 573-579.
- 248. Bull, S.S., Gillette, C., Glasgow, R.E., Estabrooks, P. Worksite health promotion research: To what extent can we generalize the results and what is needed to translate research to practice? *Health Education and Behavior* 2003; 30: 537-549.
- Willemsen, M., de Vries, H., van Breukelen, G., Genders, R. Long-term effectiveness of two Dutch work site smoking cessation programs. *Health Education and Behavior* 1998; 25: 418-435.
- 250. Linnan, L., Weiner, B., Graham, A., Emmons, K. Manager beliefs regarding worksite health promotion: Results from the Working Healthy Project 2. in review;
- 251. Koepsell, T. Epidemiologic issues in the design of Community Intervention Trials, in *Applied Epidemiology* (R. C. Brownson, and D. Petitti, Eds.), Oxford University Press, New York, NY, 1998.
- 252. Bickman, L. The functions of program theory. *New Directions in Program Evaluation* 1987; 33: 5-18.
- 253. Lipsey, M.W. Theory as method: Small theories of treatments. *New Direction in Program Evaluation* 1993; 57: 5-38.
- 254. Lipsey, M.W., Polard, J.A. Driving toward theory in program evaluation: More models to choose from. *Evaluation and Program Planning* 1989; 12: 317-328.
- 255. Donaldson, S.I., Graham, J.W., Hansen, W.B. Testing the generalizability of intervening mechanism theories: Understanding the effects of adloescent drug use prevention intervention. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 1994; 17: 195-216.
- 256. Anderson, N.B. Crossroads Panel II: Future Paradigms and Policies for Translating Prevention Research into Practice, in *Program and Abstracts*, National Institute of Health, 1998, pp. 74-.
- 257. Price, R.H. Theory guided reinvention as the key high fidelity prevention practice, in *Program and Abstracts*, National Institutes of Health, 1998.
- 258. Shediac-Rizkallah, M.C., Bone, L.R. Planning for the sustainability of community-based health programs: Conceptual frameworks and future directions for research, practice and policy. *Health Education Research* 1998; 13: 87-108.
- 259. Yin, R.K. *Changing urban bureaucracies: How new practices become routinized*, Lexington Book, Lexington, MA, 1979.
- 260. Rogers, E.M. Diffusion of innovations, The Free Press, New York, NY, 1983.
- 261. Goodman, R.M., Steckler, A.B. A model for the institutionalization of health promotion programs. *Family and Community Health* 1989; 11: 63-78.
- 262. Goodman, R.M., Steckler, A.B. A framework for assessing program institutionalization. *Knowledge in Society* 1989; 2: 57-71.
- 263. Steckler, A.B., Goodman, R.M. How to institutionalize health promotion programs. *American Journal of Health Promotion* 1989; 3: 34-44.
- 264. Orlandi, M.A. The diffusion and adoption of worksite health promotion innovations: An analysis of barriers. *Preventive Medicine* 1986; 15: 522-536.
- 265. Pressman, J.L., Wildavsky, A. *Implementation*, University of California Press, Berkeley, CA, 1979.
- 266. Goodman, R.M., McLeroy, K.R., Steckler, A.B., Hoyle, R.H. Development of level of institutionalization scales for health promotion programs. *Health Education Quarterly* 1993; 20: 161-178.

- 267. Price, R.H., R.P., Lorioin. Prevention programming as organizational reinvention: From research to implementation, in *Prevention of mental disorders, alcohol and drug use in children and adolescents* (M. M. Silverman, and V. Anthony, Eds.), DHHS, Rockville, M.D., 1989, pp. 97-123.
- 268. Pentz, M.A., Trebow, E. Implementation issues in drug abuse prevention research. *Substance Use and Misuse* 1997; 32: 1655-1660.
- 269. Pentz, M. A., Trebow, E., Hansen, W.B., MacKinnon, D.P., Dwyer, J.H., Flay, B.R., Daniels, S., Cormack, C., Johnson, C.A. Effects of program implementation on adolescent drug use behavior: The Midwestern Prevention Project (MPP). *Evaluation Review* 1990; 14: 264-289.
- 270. Florin, P., Wandersman, A. An introduction to citizen participation, voluntary organizatons, and community development: Insights for empowerment through research. *American Journal of Community Psychology* 1990; 18: 41-53.
- 271. Pentz, M.A. Research to practice in community-based prevention trials, in *Programs and Abstracts*, National Institutes of Health, 1998, pp. 82-83.
- 272. Blaine, T.M., Forster, J.L., Hennrikus, D., O'Neil, S., Wolfson, M., Pham, H. Creating tobacco control policy at the local level: Implementation of a direct action organizing approach. *Health Education and Behavior* 1997; 24: 640-651.
- 273. Mittelmark, M.B., Hunt, M.K., Heath, G.W., Schmid, T.L. Realistic Outcomes: Lessons from Community-Based Research and Demonstration Programs for the Prevention of Cardiovascular Diseases. *Journal of Public Health Policy* 1993; 14: 437-462.
- 274. Emmons, K.M., Linnan, L.A., Shadel, W.G., Marcus, B., Abrams, D.B. The Working Healthy Project: A worksite health-promotion trial targeting physical activity, diet, and smoking. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 1999; 41: 545-55.
- 275. Rogers, E.M. Diffusion of innovations, The Free Press, New York, NY, 1995.
- 276. McMahan, S., Wells, M., Stokols, D., Phillips, K., Clitheroe, H.C. Assessing health promotion programming in small businesses. *American Journal of Health Studies* 2001; 17: 120-128.
- 277. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. *1999 National Worksite Health Promotion Survey*, U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Bethesday, MD, 2000.
- 278. Blix, A. Integrating occupational health protection and health promotion: Theory and program application. *AAOHN Journal* 1999; 47: 168-171.

## J. Figures and Tables

	Level of Influence							
Content	Individual/Interpersonal	Organization/Environment	Multi-Level					
Occupational health and safety (OSH)								
Health promotion (WHP)								
Integrated OSH/WHP								

## Figure 1. Matrix of interventions supporting worker health

		í –							Ŭ	1						
		Physical	Activity		Nutrition/ Cholesterol	Weight control	Smoking	polcy	Alcohol	Alcohol Stress		Cancer risk factors	Multi-	component	programs	
	Significant Findings ↓	а	b	С	d	е	f	g	h	i	j	k		m	n	0
Anthropometrics	Weight loss															
•	BMI reduction															
	% body fat reduction															
	Blood pressure reduction															
	Cholesterol reduction															
	Improved glycemic control															
	Physical activity increase															
Health promotion	Reduced smoking															
behaviors	incidence															
	Improved endurance/															
	fitness															
	Nutrition choices															
	Reduced alcohol															
	Increased seatbelt use															
Life satsifaction/	Increased life satisfaction/	_								_						
attitudinal	well-being															
	Increased job satisfaction/															
	well-being															
	Reduced stress/anxiety/										_					
	somatic complaints														<u> </u>	
	Nutrition attitude														<b> </b>	
	Alcohol attitude															
Morbidity/	Reduced mortality															
Mortality	Fewer visits to doctors/										_			_		
	hospitalizations															
	Reduced flu and															
	Ealier cancer diagnosis															
	(DIEdSI)															-
	discasso risk															
Organizational	UISEdSE IISK															
Organizational	Pewel accidents															
outcomes	reduced ansenteersmi															
	SICK UdyS															
	Sicknoss costs															
	Desitive return on															
	investment															
Meta-analysis study nu	leta-analysis study number of studies (years) h Roman et al 1905 2/ (1070-1005)															
a. Shephard 1996 52	(1972-1994)					i	i. B	amberg	et al 1	, <u>5</u> 24 996 2	7 (198	33-1992)				

Figure 2. Health risk reduction through various WHP by significant findings

b. Dishman et al 1998 26 (1979-1995)

Proper et al 2002 8 (1981-1999) С.

Glanz et al 1996 Nutr=10, Chol=16 (1980-1995) d.

e. Hennrikus et al 1996 43 (1968-1994)

Cochrane f.

Erikson et al 1998 81 (1968-1994) g.

Murphy 1996 64 (1974-1994) Janer et al 2002 45 (1984-2000) j. k.

Heaney et al 1997 47 (1978-1996) Pelletier 1996 26 (1992-1995) I.

m.

Pelleter 1999 11 (1994-1998) Pelletier 2001 12 (1998-2000) n. 0.



**Figure 3.** Adjusted Six-Month Quit Rates at Final by Intervention and Job Type (cohort of smokers at baseline: n=880)

Sorensen G, et al. Reducing social disparities in tobacco use: A social contextual model for reducing tobacco use among blue-collar workers. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; 94: 230-239.



## Figure 4. Framework for research on integrating OSH and health promotion

		1 0 0	
		Inclusion of OSF	I in intervention?
		NO	YES
Inclusion of WHP in	NO	Non-Intervention Control	OSH-Only Intervention
intervention?	YES	WHP-Only Intervention	Integrated OSH/WHP Intervention

Figure 5. Study design: Appropriate comparisons in assessing integrated OSH/WHP interventions

Study	Design	Intervention	Intervention <sup>‡</sup>	Results	Setting
WellWorks-1 (Sorensen, et al, 1998)	RCT* worksites	Smoking cessation Dietary habits		<ul> <li>Significant improvements in smoking cessation and fruit and vegetable consumption for all workers</li> <li>Significant improvements in fiber consumption for laborers</li> </ul>	Mid-to-large manufacturing worksites (N=24 sites)
WellWorks-2 (Sorensen, et al, 1998)	RCT* worksites	Smoking cessation Fruit and vegetable consumption OSH exposures		<ul> <li>Significant improvements in smoking cessation among hourly workers</li> <li>Significant improvements in OSH programs</li> </ul>	Mid-to-large manufacturing worksites (N=15 sites)
The Brabantia Project (Maes, et al, 1998)	Quasi- experi- mental pre/post design	Lifestyle score (smoking, physical activity, hours sleep, BMI alcohol use, fat intake) Health risk General stress reactions Working conditions Absenteeism		<ul> <li>Improved cardiovascular health (due to improved serum cholesterol in men)</li> <li>Improved working conditions (due to improved perceived psychological demand and improved ergonomic conditions)</li> <li>Reduced absenteeism (8.1% reducetion in experiemental group, 4.8% reduction in the control group)</li> </ul>	Three Dutch Brabantia worksites (N=3 sites)
Healthy Directions/ Small Business (Sorensen, et al, in press)	RCT* worksites	Fruit and vegetable consumption Red meat consumption Multi-vitamins Physical activity		<ul> <li>Significant improvements in physical activity and multi-vitamin use for all workers</li> <li>Larger effects for workers than managers for fruits and vegetables and physical activity</li> </ul>	Small manufacturing worksites (N=24 sites)
MassBuilt (Barbeau, et al)	Methods developmen t	Smoking cessation		Not yet available	Construction apprentices in union program
United for a Healthy Future (Sorensen, et al)	RCT* worksites	Smoking cessation Fruit and vegetable consumption		Not yet available	Unionized construction laborers

**Table 1.** Studies Integrating OSH and Health Promotion

\* Random controlled trial with levels of randomization

<sup>‡</sup> Intervention: Individual Organization



Intervention Components	Health Promotion	WHP + OSH
Joint worker-management participation	Reprsentation: • Workers • Management • Various departments • Variety of racial/ethnic groups represented in the workplace	<ul> <li>Representation:</li> <li>Workers</li> <li>Management</li> <li>Various departments</li> <li>Variety of racial/ethnic groups represented in the workplace</li> <li>Occupational Health and Safety Manager</li> <li>Coordination with occupational health and safety committees</li> </ul>
Interventions targeting workplace organizational and environmental change	<ul> <li>Consultation to management regarding:</li> <li>Tobacco control policies</li> <li>Food catering policies*</li> <li>Cafeteria and vending machine signage of healthful food choices</li> </ul>	Consultation to management regarding: Tobacco control policies Food catering policies* Cafeteria and vending machine signage of healthful food choices Recommended changes to reduce occupational hazards based on walk- through assessment
Interventions targeting change in individual health behaviors	Traditional interventions addressing tobacco and nutrition: Group discussions Worksite-wide events	Traditional plus integrated <sup>‡</sup> interventions addressing tobacco, nutrition and occupational health: Group discussions Worksite-wide events

Table	2.	Intervention	Activities in	the	WellWorks-2 Study
-------	----	--------------	---------------	-----	-------------------

\* Catering policies specify offering healthful food options when food is served at company activities <sup>‡</sup> Integrated interventions address occupational health and nutrition, smoking, or both.

Sorensen G, et al. Reducing social disparities in tobacco use: A social contextual model for reducing tobacco use among blue-collar workers. *American Journal of Public Health* 2004; 94: 230-239.

## **Table 3.** Research agenda: Key directions for future research

Social epidemiological research
OSH data by race/ethnicity and gender
Expanding our understanding of social contextual determinants of worker health outcomes
Understanding the dual impact of job and life risk exposures over the life course
Methods development research
Further specification of integrated interventions
Further development of measurement tools
Assessing intervention efficacy
Assessment of intervention efficacy for OSH and worksite health promotion outcomes
Assessment of the efficacy of diverse types of integrated OSH/WHP interventions
Assessing intervention effectiveness
Assessment of the efficacy of interventions for diverse groups of workers
Consideration of a range of research methodologies
Process evaluation
Intervention implementation evaluation
Cost and related analyses
Assessment of worksite characteristics associated with participation
Process-to-outcome analyses
Dissemination and durability research
Research on the sustainability of organizational and behavioral changes
Research on the process of dissemination of tested interventions